
 

 

 
#plymplanning 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

Thursday 19 September 2024 

4.00 pm 

Council Chamber, Council House 

 

Members: 

Councillor Stevens, Chair 

Councillor Penrose, Vice Chair 

Councillors Allen, Mrs Bridgeman, Darcy, Goslin, McCarty, McNamara, Ney, Reilly, M. Smith, 

Sproston and Ms Watkin. 

 

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 

 

This meeting will be webcast and available on-line after the meeting.  By entering the Council 

Chamber, councillors are consenting to being filmed during the meeting and to the use of the 

recording for the webcast. 

 

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 

webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy. 

 

You can watch any of our webcast meetings on YouTube. For further information on attending 

Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic process please follow this link – Get 

Involved 

 

 

Tracey Lee 

Chief Executive 

 

 Oversight and Governance 

Chief Executive’s Department 

Plymouth City Council 

Ballard House 

Plymouth  PL1 3BJ 

Please ask for  Joshua Longstaff 

T 01752 668000 

E democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk 

www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 

Published 10 September 2024 

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLW0qNdfVlat35d9TRrIZF8fstPQ3ucVRl
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/get-involved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/get-involved
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


 

 

 

Planning Committee 
 

 

AGENDA 

 

PART I – PUBLIC MEETING 

  

1. Apologies    

  

 To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Committee Members.  

  

2. Declarations of Interest    

  

 Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 

agenda. 
  

3. Minutes    

  

 The Committee will be asked to confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 29 August 

2024. 

  

4. Chair's Urgent Business    

  

 To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 

  

5. Questions from Members of the Public    

  

 The Chair will receive and respond to questions from members of the public submitted in 

accordance with the Council’s procedures. Questions shall not normally exceed 50 

words in length and the total length of time allowed for public questions shall not exceed 

10 minutes. Any question not answered within the total time allowed shall be the subject 

of a written response. 

  

6. Planning Applications for Consideration    

  

 The Assistant Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure will submit a schedule 

asking Members to consider Applications, Development proposals by Local Authorities 

and statutory consultations under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the 

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

  

 6.1. 23/00886/FUL - Land To The West Of Bampton Road, Leigham, 

PL6 8QB 

(Pages 1 - 28) 

   

  Applicant: Mrs Nicola Daniel 

Ward: Moorview 

Recommendation: Grant Conditionally 

   



 

 

 6.2. 24/00646/FUL - 40 North Hill, PL4 8ET (Pages 29 - 48) 

   

  Applicant: Mr Justin Bryce 

Ward: Drake 

Recommendation: Grant Conditionally 

   

7. Planning Application Decisions Issued   (Pages 49 - 60) 

  

 The Assistant Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure, acting under powers 

delegated to him by the Council, will submit a schedule outlining all decisions issued from 

20 August 2024  to 9 September 2024 including – 

 

1)  Committee decisions; 

2)  Delegated decisions, subject to conditions where so indicated; 

3)  Applications withdrawn; 

4)  Applications returned as invalid. 

 

Please note that these Delegated Planning Applications are available to view online at: 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp  

  

8. Appeal Decisions   (Pages 61 - 64) 

  

 A schedule of decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate on appeals arising from the 

decision of the City Council will be submitted.  Please note that these Delegated Planning 

Applications are available to view online at:  

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp  

  

9. Exempt Business    

  

 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item(s) of 

business on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph(s) … of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as 

amended by the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

  

 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp


This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Thursday 29 August 2024 

Planning Committee 
 

Thursday 29 August 2024 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Councillor Stevens, in the Chair.  

Councillor Penrose, Vice Chair.  

Councillors Allen, Darcy, Hendy (Substituting for Goslin), McCarty, McNamara, 

Ney, P. Nicholson (Substituting for Bridgeman), M.Smith, Sproston and Tippetts 

(Substituting for Reilly).  

 

Apologies for absence: Councillors Bridgeman, Goslin, Reilly and Ms Watkin.  

 

Also in attendance: Natalie Gloyn (Lawyer), Katherine Graham (Strategic 

Developments Manager), Macauley Potter (Planning Officer), Joshua Longstaff 

(Democratic Support), Elliot Warne-Gould, (Democratic Support), Thomas Rumble 

(Design and Conservation Manager). 

 

The meeting started at 4.00 pm and finished at 5.55 pm. 

 

Note: At a future meeting, the committee will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, 

so they may be subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm 

whether these minutes have been amended. 
 

13. Declarations of Interest   

 

There were no declarations of interest.  

 

14. Minutes   

 

The Committee agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 18 July 2024 as an 

accurate record.  

 

15. Chair's Urgent Business   

 

The Chair extended a welcome to Councillors Matt Smith and Josh McCarty, first-

time sitting members of the Committee, and welcomed the return of Councillors 

Neil Hendy and Dylan Tippetts.  

 

16. Questions from Members of the Public   

 

There were no questions from members of the public. 

 

17. Planning Applications for Consideration   

 

The Committee considered the following applications, development proposals by 

local authorities and statutory consultations submitted under the Town and Country 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee Thursday 29 August 2024 

Planning Act, 1990, and the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservations Areas) Act, 

1990. 

 

18. 24/00371/FUL Land Adjacent to Wilmot Gardens, PL5 3TP   

 

Applicant’s Name: Darren Wills 

Ward: Honicknowle 

Decision: Deferred 

 

Macauley Potter (Planning Officer) presented the report.  

 

Mr Matthew Fleming spoke as an objector.  

 

Councillor Chris Penberthy spoke as representative of the applicant.  

 
The Committee agreed to defer the decision in respect of the application in order to 

obtain the following further information and reports:  

 

1. A response or report from a qualified arboriculturist on the impact on the 

root system and a request for their attendance at committee. 

2. A request to investigate the possibility of a resurfacing and reconfiguration of 

the car park pertaining to disability requirements and resurfacing.  

3. Further confirmation of the application for a Tree Preservation Order, 

whether remaining trees would be subject to TPO. 

4. Clarity on the site’s categorisation as “surplus to requirement”, including 

information on community use through submission of an Open Space 

Assessment.  

 

19. Planning Application Decisions Issued   

 

The Committee noted the report from the Service Director for Strategic Planning 

and Infrastructure on decisions issued for the period from 9 July 2024 to 16 August 

2024. 

 

20. Appeal Decisions   

 

The Committee noted the schedule of appeal decisions made by the Planning 

Inspectorate. 

 

21. Exempt Business   

 

There were no items of exempt business. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 2



 

   

PLANNING APPLICATION 
OFFICERS REPORT 

 
 

Site Address Land To The West Of Bampton Road   Leigham  Plymouth  PL6 8QB    

Proposal 
Erection of 7no affordable dwellings and associated works to the car 
park (including, but not limited to white lining) 

Applicant Mrs Nicola Daniel 

Application Type Full Application 

Target Date    10.08.2023 
Committee 
Date 19.09.2024 

Extended Target Date 26.09.2024   

Decision Category Councillor Referral 

Case Officer Mr Daniel Thorning 

Recommendation Grant Conditionally 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application 
Number   23/00886/FUL  Item 01 

Date Valid 15.06.2023  Ward MOORVIEW 

Page 3 Agenda Item 6.1



 

 

 
 
The application has been referred to Planning Committee by Councillor Lindsay Gilmour. 
 
1.  Description of Site 
The site is an existing surface level public car park that is located to the north of the Leigham Local 
Centre, which provides a range of local amenities including a public house, newsagent, hot food 
takeaway, hairdresser/beauty salon, general grocery shop and community hall. The 0.35 hectare site 
is roughly triangular in shape with the Local Centre abutting the site's southwest boundary. The site 
is bounded by Bampton Road to the east and by a terrace of 11 existing dwellinghouses to the 
northwest. Approximately 30 metres to the north of the site lies Leigham Park, which is locally 
designated as Neighbourhood Green Space and which contains a playing field and children's play 
equipment. 
 
The Leigham neighbourhood is located on an elevated plateau that provides the site with distant 
views to the east and northeast without being overly prominent in the wider landscape. The 

Page 4



 

 

topography of the site is generally level with a small north to south fall, and with Bampton Road set 
at an elevated level to the east.  
 
Vehicle access is from Bampton Road in the site's northeast corner. The site is generally open to 
pedestrians on all sides although there are existing footpaths to the north, south and west. The 
existing car park is finished with tarmac with grass verges on the periphery of the site. The parking 
spaces are non-demarcated and therefore parking appears to be informally arranged. There are two 
Plymouth City Council owned bottle banks and a privately owned clothes bank located on the site. 
The surrounding area is predominantly residential in character other than the Local Centre's 
commercial uses that serve the local residential population. 
 
2.  Proposal Description 
Plymouth Community Homes has applied to erect seven affordable dwellings with associated works 
to the car park (including, but not limited to white lining). The proposal can be broken down into 
two main components comprising an affordable housing development and a retained public car park. 
The housing component proposes to construct seven affordable homes comprising two 1-bedroom 
bungalows, three 2-bedroom houses and two 3-bedroom houses and on the eastern part of the site. 
The houses would be served by seven car parking spaces allocated for residents' use. The housing 
development occupies approximately 0.12 hectares, which is equivalent to 34% of the overall site 
area. 
 
The remaining 0.23 hectares of the site (66% of the site area) is proposed to be retained for public 
car parking. The retained car park will be white lined to formalise 66 car parking spaces for ongoing 
public use. The footprint of the car park would be extended into the grass verge to the 
north/northwest of the site to widen the access road to accommodate servicing and delivery 
vehicles. The existing bottle and clothes banks are proposed to be removed from the site.  
 
3. Pre-application Enquiry 
22/00824/MOR - the principle of development was generally supported subject to the application 
demonstrating that sufficient car parking would be retained to serve the Local Centre and the 11 
existing dwellinghouses that abut the site. The orientation of the dwellings away from Bampton Road 
was considered contrary to best practice urban design principles but the layout was considered by 
the case officer to be acceptable and in keeping with the local development context. The proposal to 
discharge surface water from the retained car park into the sewers at an uncontrolled rate as per 
the existing arrangement was considered to be acceptable in principle subject to agreeing a full 
drainage strategy for the site. Further information was requested to enable a full assessment of the 
proposal. 
 
4. Relevant Planning History 
There is no relevant planning history for the site. A Site Planning Statement (SPS) was produced by 
the Local Planning Authority in November 2018 to provide guidance to assist development 
proposals. The SPS contains a residential concept plan that suggests the site may be suitable for 
seven houses or bungalows. The SPS sets out design principles including providing active frontages, 
pedestrian links and parking re-provision amongst other objectives. This document does not 
establish policy but assists the development process by bringing together key planning and design 
issues. The SPS was produced prior to adoption of the Plymouth and Southwest Devon Joint Local 
Plan 2014-34 (the JLP). 
 
5. Consultation Responses 
Housing Delivery Team - supports the development.  
 
Lead Local Flood Authority - no objection subject to applying a condition.  
 

Page 5



 

 

Local Highway Authority - initial objection withdrawn subject to applying conditions. 
 
Natural Infrastructure Team - no objection subject to applying conditions. 
 
Police Designing Out Crime - raised concerns regarding residential development in a well-used 
public car park, the quality of life for future residents and the risk of overspill parking causing upset 
amongst the local community. Conditions are recommended.  
 
Public Protection Service - no objection subject to applying a condition. 
 
Street Services (Waste) - supportive of removing the on-site recycling facilities. 
 
South West Water - does not support discharge to the combined sewerage network in the absence 
of clear evidence to demonstrate why the preferred methods in the run-off destination hierarchy 
have been discounted. 
 
Urban Design - objects to the design and layout. 
 
6. Representations 
The Local Planning Authority (LPA) received 80 letters of objection to the initial plans that were 
submitted in June 2023. Revised plans were advertised in March 2024 and these generated 17 letters 
of objection. Further revised plans were advertised in May 2024 and these generated 4 letters of 
objection. Overall the LPA has received 101 letters of objection from 91 individuals with no letters 
of support. The main reason for objecting is the loss of public car parking and the impacts that this 
will have on local businesses and the amenity of local residents who could be affected by overspill 
parking on nearby residential streets. Several objections reference the potential to impact upon 
older and disabled users of the Local Centre. Removal of the existing recycling facilities also featured 
in a significant number of objections. Other reasons for objecting include impacts on: 
 
o Emergency services access to the Local Centre 
o Servicing of units in the Local Centre 
o Other community uses such as for school proms, school drop-offs/collections (Park and 

Stride) and parking for Leigham Park   
o Noise pollution from the proposed dwellings 
o Noise associated with use of the public house affecting the proposed dwellings  
o Absence of EV charging facilities for public users of the car park 
o Increased traffic and associated impacts on wildlife, pedestrian safety and climate change 
o Visibility onto Bampton Road affected 
o Additional foul sewage generated by the proposed dwellings 
o Proposed dwellings not in keeping with the character of the area 
o There may be other more suitable sites including but not limited to sites within the Leigham 

neighbourhood 
o Construction debris/dust could affect the health of elderly and disabled persons living close to 

the site. 
 
7. Relevant Policy Framework 
Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compensation Act 2004 requires that applications are to be determined in accordance 
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of 
decision making, as of 26 March 2019, the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-
2034 (hereinafter referred to as the JLP) is now part of the development plan for Plymouth City 

Page 6



 

 

Council, South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts South 
Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park). 
 
On 26 March 2019 the JLP was adopted by all three of the component authorities. Following 
adoption, the three authorities jointly notified the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) of their choice to monitor the Housing Requirement at the whole plan level. 
This is for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) and the 5 Year Housing Land Supply 
assessment. A letter from MHCLG to the Authorities was received on 13 May 2019 confirming the 
change. On 19 December 2023 the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
published the HDT 2022 measurement.  This confirmed the Plymouth, South Hams and West 
Devon's joint measurement as 121% and the policy consequences are none. 
 
Therefore no buffer is required to be applied for the purposes of calculating a 5 year housing land 
supply at the whole plan level.  The combined authorities can demonstrate a 5-year housing land 
supply of 5.84 years at end of March 2023 (the 2023 Monitoring Point). This is set out in the 
Plymouth, South Hams & West Devon Local Planning Authorities' Housing Position Statement 2023 
(published on 26 February 2024). 
 
Other material considerations include the policies and guidance contained in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2023) (NPPF), Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), National Design Guide (2021), 
the Plymouth and Southwest Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 Supplementary Planning Document 
(2020) (SPD) and the Climate Emergency Planning Statement (2022) (CEPS). 
 
8. Analysis 
1. The primary considerations are the principle of development, housing delivery, design/layout, 
amenity, highway safety, local centre impacts, natural infrastructure, drainage, energy/sustainability, 
land quality and waste management. The following JLP policies are considered relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 
SPT1 Delivering sustainable development 
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities 
SPT6 Spatial provision of retail and main town centre uses 
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity 
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light 
DEV7 Meeting local housing need in the Plymouth Policy Area 
DEV9 Meeting local housing need in the Plan Area 
DEV10 Delivering high quality housing 
DEV18 Protecting local shops and services 
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment 
DEV23 Landscape character 
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation 
DEV28 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows 
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport 
DEV31 Waste management 
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development 
DEV35 Managing flood risk and water quality impacts 
 
Principle of Development 
1. The application is to develop brownfield land that is not allocated in the JLP and therefore 
can be considered a windfall site. Paragraph 70 of the NPPF highlights the important contribution 
that windfall sites make towards delivering housing, and it applies significant weight to the benefit of 
using suitable windfall sites within existing settlements. Paragraph 124 of the NPPF gives substantial 

Page 7



 

 

weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for housing. The effective re-
use of brownfield land is also supported in Policy SPT1 of the JLP. 
 
2. Policy SPT2 seeks to guide development to create sustainable linked neighbourhoods and 
communities. The proposed development is broadly consistent with the provisions of Policy SPT2, 
and the site's location, which is within walking distance of local amenities such as a convenience 
store, green spaces and a primary school, meets the measures of sustainable neighbourhoods and 
communities as identified in Figure 3.2 of the policy's supporting text. The use of brownfield land in a 
well-connected residential area is considered to be highly sustainable, and the principle of 
development is accepted. The site currently provides car parking to serve the adjacent Leigham Local 
Centre and it is necessary to ensure that sufficient car parking is retained to protect the vitality and 
viability of the shops and services in accordance with Policy DEV18 of the JLP. Car parking and retail 
impacts will be addressed in their respective sections of this report.  
 
3. Public objections suggest that there are other more suitable sites in the city including sites 
within the Leigham neighbourhood. As noted above, the NPPF highlights the important contribution 
that windfall sites make towards delivering housing. The LPA is required to determine the current 
planning application, and the suitability of other sites is not a material consideration.  
 
Housing Delivery 
4. In March 2024 the Council's Cabinet approved the Plan for Homes 4 (PFH4), which sets out 
an ambition to deliver a minimum of 5,000 new homes in the city over the next five years. The PFH4 
is the Council's housing strategy. While it does not form planning policy, it does provide useful 
context on the current need for affordable housing. The Cabinet Report states that affordable 
housing delivery has reduced to record low levels in recent years due to macroeconomic and local 
challenges affecting housebuilding. At the same time Plymouth's housing needs are increasing as a 
result of challenges including the Covid-19 pandemic, the war in Ukraine, rising inflation, the cost of 
living crisis and the lack of affordable housing options across all tenures. These challenges have 
significantly impacted on the housing market and people's ability to meet their housing needs, 
resulting in a significant increase in both homelessness and the use of temporary accommodation in 
Plymouth. August 2024 housing need figures show that 7,441 households are registered on Devon 
Home Choice of which 1,229 are in high band priority need. There are currently 391 households in 
temporary accommodation and 217 households in B&B, many of which are families. There are also 
1,320 households on Devon Home Choice in need of step-free, max three step or wheelchair 
accessible homes. The Cabinet Report indicates that Plymouth is in the midst of an unprecedented 
housing crisis and more homes are needed to meet identified housing need.  
 
5. The local context is consistent with the national picture, with the Written Ministerial 
Statement made by the Deputy Prime Minister on 30 July 2024 stating that "we are in the middle of 
the most acute housing crisis in living memory." The Written Ministerial Statement, which could be 
considered a material planning consideration as per the provisions of NPPF paragraph 6, places even 
greater emphasis on brownfield development. 
 
6. The application proposes to provide a mix of two 1-bedrom Part M4(2) compliant bungalows, 
three 2-bedroom houses and two 3-bedroom houses. All seven homes would be available at social 
rent levels despite the proposal being below the Policy DEV7 threshold for affordable housing 
delivery, which is more than 10 dwellings. The two Part M4(2) compliant bungalows meet the 
requirements of Policy DEV9 and will help to meet accessible housing need in the city. The 
bungalows may also present an opportunity to encourage downsizing to free up larger family 
accommodation as under-occupation is a significant issue in Plymouth (as well as at a national level), 
with a disproportionate amount occurring in older age groups. 
 

Page 8



 

 

7. The application therefore complies with Policy DEV9 and exceeds the requirements of Policy 
DEV7, and the development would make an important contribution to meeting housing need in the 
context of the housing crisis. For major applications, affordable housing is usually secured via a 
Section 106 agreement. However, paragraph 65 of the NPPF and paragraph 12.26 of the SPD 
indicate that affordable housing should not be sought on applications for minor development. As 
affordable housing cannot be strictly required for this minor application, it is considered appropriate 
to secure it via a planning condition. The condition would be enforceable should the development be 
delivered other than for affordable housing, and a new application would be required to vary the 
tenure. 
 
8. A planning condition does not offer the same security as an obligation secured by a Section 
106 agreement, but an obligation is not necessary in planning terms, nor is it fairly and reasonably 
related in scale to the development, thus it would fail the statutory tests. Nevertheless officers take 
comfort in the fact that the applicant is a Registered Provider with a strong track record of 
affordable housing delivery in Plymouth. The applicant has also confirmed that the development is a 
long way from what would normally be considered viable, even with significant public subsidy from 
Homes England. The applicant has indicated that it is pursuing the development due to its 
commitment to delivering affordable housing in the city. Whilst viability details have not been 
provided (nor requested), officers consider, on the balance of probability, that the development is 
unlikely to be attractive as a commercial investment.   
 
Design and Layout  
9. The housing development comprises a terrace of five 2-storey houses and two semi-detached 
bungalows that front into the car park, with rear boundaries presenting onto Bampton Road. Each 
dwelling benefits from a private, grassed rear garden, with planters provided to the front of the 
houses to provide small areas of landscaping and defensible space. The bungalows are proposed to 
be finished with facing bricks whilst the terraced houses would be finished with facing bricks at 
ground floor level with white render on the upper floor. Doors and windows are proposed to be 
uPVC and finished in a foil grey colour. Ground floor windows are proposed on gable/side 
elevations. The roofs are hipped and finished with concrete tiles.  
 
10. Boundary treatments were initially proposed to be 1.8 metre timber fencing but following 
negotiations between the applicant and case officer, the plans have been amended to show a 1.8 
metre brick wall along the Bampton Road frontage. Timber fencing has been retained to the side of 
Plot 3 due to constrained viability. Officers consider this should be a brick wall to match the 
Bampton Road boundary and to provide a robust treatment to this public facing part of the 
development. Final details of the materials should be agreed through a surfacing materials condition.  
 
11. A private lane provides access to the rear gardens of plots 2-7. This enables residents to 
store bins in rear gardens and present them to the street on collection days. A 'bin presentation 
point' is provided adjacent to the side boundary of Plot 3. There is an irregular area of land at the 
end of the lane that has been left open to provide access to the drainage pump chamber. This is 
considered acceptable given that it is in a private area of the development, accessible only to plots 2-
7.  
 
12. The remainder of the site would be retained as a public car park. The car park and its access 
road are proposed to be extended into the grass verge by approximately 2 metres along the 
northern border and by around 9 metres to create spaces 60, 61 and 69. This is necessary to 
accommodate servicing and delivery vehicles and to maximise parking. Parking spaces would be 
formalised with white painted lines.   
 
13. The Urban Design Team raised concerns during the pre-application regarding the orientation 
of the dwellings, with their rear boundaries presenting onto Bampton Road. This is generally 

Page 9



 

 

considered contrary to best practice urban design principles. For example, 'characteristic B2' of the 
National Design Guide (2021) states that successful streets are characterised by buildings facing the 
street to provide interest, overlooking and active frontages at ground level; and the 'well defined 
streets and spaces' consideration of the Building for a Healthy Life (2020) design toolkit encourages 
streets with active frontages. Active frontages on public streets are also supported in Table 12 of the 
SPD. The Urban Design Team also advised that a footpath should be provided along the Bampton 
Road boundary of the site to enhance the pedestrian connections in the area. 
 
14. The applicant was not prepared to reorientate the dwellings towards Bampton Road during 
the pre-application enquiry and the layout has followed through to the full planning application. The 
applicant has given the following reasons to justify the proposed orientation and the omission of a 
footpath: 
 
o Bampton Road is raised above the application site and therefore dwellings fronting onto 

Bampton Road would have to be set down from the road, cut in or facing a raised bank or 
retaining wall. Alternatively the dwellings would have to be set up by raising ground levels. 
Both options would require awkward ramps and steps to provide access plus a retaining wall, 
and the cost would be prohibitive. 

o A pedestrian path to the front of the dwellings on Bampton Road would be disjointed and 
isolated as there are no formal paths either side of the site. As above, a path would require 
engineering works. 

o The applicant's resident feedback surveys indicate that tenants want a close relationship 
between parking and their front door. Increasing the distance between parking spaces and 
front doors compromises an inclusive approach to design. 

o The proposed orientation provides an active frontage and natural surveillance over the car 
park, which would improve this space. 

 
15. Subsequently the Urban Design Team has objected to the development on the grounds that 
the layout remains contrary to best practice urban design principles. The Urban Design Team raised 
no objection to the building materials but suggested that if the LPA is minded to approve the 
application, additional windows should be installed on the first floor of the gable/side elevation of 
plot 7 to add interest to the Bampton Road elevation. 
 
16. The site is challenging from an urban design perspective due to the car park setting, the 
elevated position of Bampton Road to the east, and the desirability of providing residential frontages 
on all three sides of the housing development. Officers have carefully considered the proposed 
development, the Urban Design Team's consultation advice and the local development context. 
Leigham is a 1970s housing estate that comprises the main Bampton Road thoroughfare with 
numerous residential cul-de-sacs/interconnected 'walks' designed to separate vehicles from residents 
and pedestrians. Terraced dwellings front onto the cul-de-sacs/walks or are arranged perpendicular 
to the residential streets with gable walls fronting the roads. There are no dwellings that front 
directly onto Bampton Road as these are located on the adjacent residential streets and/or they are 
set back behind generous grass verges. As a result, there is no established building line and there is a 
mix of dwellings, rear gardens and gable ends fronting onto Bampton Road. For example, the nearest 
dwellings on Bideford Walk have rear gardens with boundaries displaying a mix of timber, render and 
painted blockwork fronting onto Bampton Road. The bungalows between Grimspond Close and 
Babbacombe Close have blank side/gable elevations fronting onto Bampton Road. 
 
17. Therefore whilst the layout may not align with current best practice, officers consider the 
proposed layout to be consistent with the established local development context and no more 
harmful than other/existing dwellings backing onto Bampton Road. The applicant has provided a 
justification as to why it is not possible to achieve active frontages on this site, which would require 
engineering works that could be cost prohibitive. The Urban Design Team's comments are 

Page 10



 

 

acknowledged but officers consider that little benefit would derive from reorientating dwellings 
towards Bampton Road, and this could render the affordable housing scheme unviable. The 
suggested footpath is also considered to provide limited value given the lack of connections outside 
of the site boundary. 
 
18. The applicant was encouraged to add gable windows to the first floor of Plot 7 but this was 
dismissed due to development viability and the effect this would have on the functionality of the 
bedrooms. Officers also recommended that trees are planted to the rear of the dwellings along 
Bampton Road. However, the applicant advised that this is not feasible due to the location of a South 
West Water (SWW) surface water sewer under this part of the site.  
 
19. It is recommended that full details of the materials including boundary treatments should be 
agreed through a surfacing materials conditions. A condition requiring the submission of a render 
maintenance schedule is also recommended to ensure that any staining/discolouration of the render 
is promptly rectified. A condition has also been recommended to ensure the gate to the private lane 
is lockable with access restricted to residents and housing management. 
 
Amenity 
20. The bungalows are approximately 24 metres from the nearest existing house to the north of 
the site, and the development is not expected to result in unacceptable daylight, sunlight, outlook 
and privacy impacts to existing dwellings/residents in accordance with Policy DEV1 of the JLP. The 
development would bring the car park up to approximately 2 metres closer to the rear boundaries 
of the existing dwellings that abut the site. However, the rear gardens of these dwellings are located 
at a higher level and the encroachment into the grass verge is not expected to result in significant 
amenity impacts. 
  
21. Some of the public objections state that the housing development will cause noise 
disturbances to neighbouring properties, whilst other objections suggest that the proposed dwellings 
will be adversely affected by noise disturbances from use of the public house (including taxi drop-
offs/collections). It is recommended that a Construction Environment Management Plan and 
Construction Traffic Management Plan are required through conditions to protect residential 
amenity and minimise disturbances during the construction phase. Taxi vehicle movements are 
expected to be no more harmful than other vehicle movements in the car park. 
 
22. The pub is located approximately 22 metres from the proposed dwellings although it is noted 
that the northern part of the pub (i.e. the part that is nearest to the site) contains the kitchen, 
toilets, restaurant area and the service yard. The pub's outdoor seating area and the main bar area 
are located on its southern side, which is approximately 7 metres from the nearest existing 
residential apartments. Therefore there are existing dwellings in the area that will continue to be 
more affected by the pub than the proposed dwellings. Nevertheless there is potential for noise 
associated with the pub to give rise to adverse effects on future occupiers and therefore the 'agent 
of change' principle contained in paragraph 193 of the NPPF applies. This requires the applicant (or 
'agent of change') to provide suitable mitigation before the development has been completed to 
safeguard the ongoing operation of the pub from additional licensing restrictions caused by the 
introduction of housing. The Council would be unable to require a reduction in noise levels from 
nearby licensed or commercial businesses in existence before the development is completed. The 
Council's Public Protection Service raised no objection to the development but advised that a noise 
condition and an agent for change informative should be applied to ensure the new dwellings are 
adequately insulated from external noise. 
 
23. The application confirms that all of the dwellings comply with the Nationally Described Space 
Standards (NDSS). Plots 2 is provided with 48.5 square metres of outdoor amenity space, which is 
slightly below the 50 square metre minimum requirement for terraced and end-terrace dwellings set 

Page 11



 

 

out in the SPD. However, it is acknowledged that Plot 2 is a 1-bedroom bungalow aimed at single 
persons/couples, older persons and/or people with accessibility requirements as opposed to 
households with children, and it is located approximately 50 metres to the south of Leigham Park 
which provides access to greenspace. All other plots meet the SPD minimum standards for outdoor 
amenity space. The undersized outdoor amenity space for Plot 2 is therefore considered to be 
acceptable on this occasion. 
 
24. Policy DEV10 requires dwellings to be of a high quality and to provide good living standards 
for future occupiers. There is concern regarding the location of the development within an existing 
car park and the standard of living this will afford to future occupiers. The Police Designing Out 
Crime Officer has also expressed reservations about providing housing in a well-used car park and 
the potential for this to cause conflict between existing residents, users of the Local Centre and 
future occupiers of the proposed dwellings. 
 
25. Officers consider that the site may provide sub-optimal conditions for housing development. 
However, each dwelling will comply with the NDSS and have private rear gardens, and the site is 
sustainably located close to local amenities and public transport connections. These concerns are 
considered to be outweighed by the delivery of affordable housing on the site.  
 
Highway Safety  
26. The original submission proposed to retain 58 parking spaces for public use with a further 12 
spaces allocated to residents of the housing development. The submitted Transport Statement 
contains a 48 hour parking 'beat survey' that took place from 06:00 on Friday 30 September 2022 to 
06:00 on Sunday 2 October 2022. This survey showed a peak demand of 54 parked cars at 20:00 on 
the Saturday evening and therefore less than the number of spaces proposed. The Local Highway 
Authority (LHA) undertook multiple site visits including on two occasions where the number of 
parked cars exceeded the 58 spaces proposed (i.e. there were 63 cars at 12:00 on Saturday 8 July 
2023 and 59 cars at 14:00 on the same date). Furthermore, the Google Earth satellite image shows 
around 68 cars parked on the site on Saturday 5 March 2022. These findings led to the LHA 
objecting to the application on the grounds that the development did not provide sufficient car 
parking to meet the existing demand, and this could lead to overspill parking that could prejudice 
public safety and the free flow of traffic on the highway. The LHA suggested that 78 spaces should be 
provided based on the indicative parking standards set out in tables 30 and 31 of the SPD (after 
reductions are applied for the site's accessibility rating). 
 
27. Revised plans were submitted in March 2024 which increased the number of public spaces 
from 58 to 61 whilst still providing 12 allocated spaces for the affordable housing units. This increase 
was achieved by reducing the width of the access road and footpaths, and by removing landscape 
features. However, the LHA maintained an objection as the alterations reduced the width of the 
access road and turning head adjacent to the pub's servicing area to the extent that they would be 
rendered impractical for any business use. The LHA advised that larger servicing vehicles would be 
unable to turn, leading to long reversing manoeuvres through the car park and a potential conflict 
with parking spaces 21 and 22 (as numbered on drawing 2229-P017-100-100 Rev P017 received 28 
March 2024). The alterations would also reduce the reversing space for bays 1 and 2 to an 
unacceptable level, and thus the LHA advised that the number of parking spaces should be reduced 
by four, leaving 57 usable spaces. 
 
28. Following further negotiations a solution was found that increased parking levels whilst 
providing a functional layout. Revised plans were submitted in May 2024 that show 66 public car 
parking spaces. The increase has been achieved by reducing the number of allocated spaces that 
serve the affordable housing units from 12 spaces to 7, which creates an additional 5 unallocated 
spaces available for shared use between residents and users of the car park. This arrangement is 
supported in paragraph 8.3.11 of the Manual for Streets (2007) and it would help to avoid the 

Page 12



 

 

scenario whereby the car park could be full yet there are residential spaces not in use. Additional 
parking has also been created by removing the space that was previously reserved to accommodate 
the recycling facilities, which are considered redundant for reasons explained in the waste 
management section of this report.  
 
29. The revised proposal for 66 spaces exceeds the peak demand that has been observed by the 
case officer, the LHA and the applicant's transport consultant across multiple visits to the site, and 
the number is just two spaces short of the number of parked vehicles shown on the aforementioned 
Google Earth satellite image. During the LHA's most recent site visit, 64 vehicles were parked in the 
car park during a time in which a function was being held at the Community Hall. The LHA has 
therefore advised that the retention of 66 parking spaces could satisfy the parking demand from the 
existing residential uses and the uses within the Local Centre, and that any overspill parking would 
likely be minimal. This level of provision is below the indicative levels suggested in the SPD but the 
LPA agrees with the applicant that the indicative levels should be given less weight than actual 
observed demand, and it would be overly robust to require parking levels that exceed the observed 
demand. 
 
30. It has become apparent from multiple site visits that the car park is currently being used for 
unauthorised vehicle storage by motorhomes and vehicles advertised for sale, in breach of the 
restrictions currently placed upon the car park which prohibit trading and the storage of vehicles. 
These restrictions are not currently enforced and therefore act only as a deterrent. The 
unauthorised parking has the effect of inflating the observed parking demand and there is potential 
for large vehicles to occupy more than one parking space if the proposal is developed.     
 
31. Officers have liaised with the Council's Street Services (Parking) team to find an enforceable 
solution to prevent unauthorised parking. Street Services advised that the most effective solution 
would be to implement a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to introduce restrictions that would 
require vehicles to park within the confines of the parking spaces, to deter larger vehicles. This 
suggestion was dismissed by the applicant as it would not own or manage the car park, which would 
be retained by the Council. The position was upheld by the Council (as the landowner), which 
responded: "It is not possible to pre-empt future usage of the car park following development. 
Therefore as landowner, PCC does not consider that the request for a TRO is necessary at this 
time. Should the planning application be approved, PCC would monitor the use of the car park and 
will review and update the management strategy as required. Management tools such as Traffic 
Regulation Orders, in addition to other measures, form part of the long term car park management 
options that would be considered." The applicant added that applying for a TRO would be a costly 
process that may not be approved, to alleviate a concern that has not been raised by the LHA. 
 
32. The unauthorised vehicle parking has been accounted for in the applicant and the LPA's 
parking surveys. Formal demarcation of the car park may also help to discourage unauthorised 
parking to create additional capacity. Officers therefore consider that it would be unreasonable to 
impose a requirement for a TRO or a condition requiring ongoing monitoring of the parking 
capacity. However, an informative that requires the landowner to monitor the ongoing use of the car 
park is recommended, and a TRO could form part of the long term management strategy if required 
following completion of the development. 
 
33. In respect of disabled parking provision, the SPD expects a minimum of 10% of the overall 
number of parking spaces to be provided for disabled motorists which would equate to seven spaces, 
although the Department for Transport's updated guidance on 'Inclusive Mobility' (2022) 
recommends that a minimum provision of one space per each employee of a shopping area which is 
disabled, plus 6% of the total capacity for visiting motorists is required. The number of disabled 
persons employed by the Local Centre units is not known to the LPA but the four disabled spaces 
that are proposed equate to 6% of the overall provision. This could be considered to be in excess of 

Page 13



 

 

6% if spaces are deducted from the overall number of public spaces to take into account parking for 
the 11 existing dwellings that make use of the car park (i.e. four disabled bays would amount to 9% 
provision if 22 public spaces were allocated to the existing dwellings). The LHA has advised that the 
proposal for disabled parking is acceptable although it suggested that the LPA could require spaces 
28, 29 and/or 30 (as numbered on drawing ref. 2229-100-100 Rev P018 received 13 May 2024) to be 
allocated for disabled users if deemed necessary. Officers are mindful that overprovision of disabled 
spaces could affect the demand for the remaining standard spaces, and disabled users would not be 
prohibited from parking in spaces 28-30 or any other standard specification space. The level of 
disabled parking provision is therefore considered to be acceptable.  
 
34. In terms of servicing, the LHA has advised that the turning head adjacent to the pub's service 
area remains constrained, but it meets the minimum requirements set out in the Devon Design 
Guide for residential developments, which is considered appropriate for the development. The 
proposed layout retains the existing access arrangements for emergency services vehicles to the 
Local Centre. Some of the objections refer to the lack of servicing provision for the other local 
centre uses such as the newsagents. These buildings are under the ownership of the applicant, and 
they do not have specified rights of access over the Council-owned car park. Space is not currently 
laid out for servicing within the car park, and a service area is available to the west of the Local 
Centre off Thurlestone Walk. The applicant has also reiterated that it owns the Local Centre units, 
and it would not be in its commercial interest to remove servicing facilities that would undermine 
the viability of the retail units.   
 
35. Secure and covered cycle storage is proposed for each dwelling and this shall be secured by 
condition. The two bungalows which benefit from private driveways will be provided with electric 
vehicle charging points in accordance with Table 33 of the SPD. The remaining five allocated parking 
spaces will be served with passive wiring to allow future charging point connection. The SPD expects 
at least 25 per cent of residential parking bays to be provided with charging points with 50% of all 
other spaces to be served with passive wiring. The application therefore proposes a shortfall of one 
charging point but an oversupply of three parking spaces with passive wiring. The EV provision is 
considered, on balance, to be acceptable. 
 
36. Public objections refer to lack of electric vehicle charging facilities for public use. Table 33 of 
the SPD expects applications for developments with high turnover car parking to be provided with 
"some provision for rapid charging points and cabling." However, officers consider that it would be 
unreasonable to require the applicant to provide charging points, which would require intrusive 
groundworks, given the limited scope of works proposed to be carried out to the car park. The 
public car park will remain outside of the applicant's ownership and it has only been included within 
the red line of the application as formal demarcation of the parking spaces is considered necessary to 
make the development acceptable.  
 
37. A number of objections refer to impacts on other informal community uses of the car park 
such as for school drop-offs/collections (known as 'Park and Stride'), school prom collections and 
parking for Leigham Park. The 'Park and Stride' initiative would attract demand before and after 
school use. Demand for the public house does not occur during the morning school hours and the 
other local centre uses would generate limited demand so capacity is likely to be unaffected. The 
applicant's Transport Statement, which observed a peak demand of 54 spaces, would have accounted 
for use of the site during the morning drop-off and afternoon collection on Friday 30 September 
2022 as well as use of Leigham Park over the surveyed weekend. Infrequent events such as school 
prom collections may take place on the car park due its current availability and convenience. Such 
infrequent uses could be displaced but this would not represent grounds for refusal.  
 
38. Public objections also suggest that visibility onto Bampton Road will be affected. The LHA has 
confirmed that the development provides adequate visibility at the junction of Bampton Road.  

Page 14



 

 

 
39. The initial submissions attracted a significant number of public objections with just four 
objections received in response to the current/revised plans. The majority of the 91 objections relate 
to the loss of car parking and associated impacts on the local community and businesses. Officers 
have carefully considered the objections, the advice provided by the LHA and the applicant's 
transport submissions. Policy SPT6 and Table 3.2 of the JLP designate 37 local centres in Plymouth. 
Officers have reviewed the availability of car parking for the other local centres and found that some 
of the larger centres that provide a wider range of amenities and/or attract tourism, such as the 
Barbican, Chaddlewood, Crownhill, Marlborough Street, Southway, Stoke Village and Whitleigh 
Green, are served by public car parks. However, the majority of the local centres, particularly the 
smaller centres with limited commercial offerings, have no public car park. Therefore there is no 
precedent or legal/policy requirement that mandates public car parking for local centres, and the 
existing parking could be seen as disproportionate to the scale and offering of the Leigham Local 
Centre.  
 
40. Empirical evidence confirms that the car park currently operates well within the proposed 
capacity for most of the week even with the car park being used for unauthorised vehicle storage. As 
noted above, the LPA has undertaken multiple visits to the site and counted the number of parked 
vehicles. The peak observed demand is 64 parked vehicles, or 68 shown on a Google Earth satellite 
image. This higher level of peak parking would result in an undersupply of two parking spaces 
although officers accept there may be occasions when the undersupply is greater. There is an 
expectation that formalising the car park will reduce the unauthorised vehicle storage which should 
create additional parking capacity. It could also be argued that reducing the convenience of 
unrestricted parking could encourage local residents to use sustainable methods of transport, 
particularly given the role of a local centre is to provide local/neighbourhood services and it is 
reasonable to assume the majority of journeys could be made on foot or bicycle. Beryl Bike docks 
have recently been installed adjacent to the site to further encourage sustainable transport. 
 
41. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that development should only be refused on highway 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe. Policy DEV29 of the JLP states that development 
proposals should provide safe and satisfactory traffic movement and ensure sufficient provision of car 
parking to protect the amenity of surrounding residential areas and ensure safety of the highway 
network.  
 
42. The evidence submitted and empirical evidence collected by the LPA confirm that the existing 
demand should be met most of the time. There may be occasions when the car park reaches full 
capacity, however, the evidence suggests that any overspill parking on the surrounding residential 
streets would be minimal. Officers consider that a risk of minimal overspill parking would not 
amount to a significant and unacceptable impact on highway safety or local amenity. The application 
is therefore considered compliant with Policy DEV29 of the JLP and Section 9 of the NPPF.  
 
Impacts on the Local Centre 
43. Policy DEV18 requires development to maintain the vitality and viability of local centres to 
ensure they retain their role in the retail hierarchy, meeting the needs of the area they serve. The 
applicant has advised that traffic lights will likely be required to control access for periods during 
construction but the area of retained car park shall remain open. There will be some short term 
disruption to allow the white lines to be painted upon completion of the housing development but 
thereafter 66 public car parking spaces will be retained to meet the needs of the Local Centre.  
 
44. As noted in the Highway Safety section above, the proposal makes acceptable provision for 
servicing the Local Centre. The new dwellings could generate additional spending in the retail units. 
The applicant has also reiterated that it would not be in its commercial interest to undermine the 

Page 15



 

 

viability of the retail units. For the reasons outlined above, officers consider that the development is 
unlikely to have an unacceptable effect on the vitality or viability of the Leigham Local Centre in 
accordance with Policy DEV18. 
 
Natural Infrastructure 
45. The application was submitted prior to the new statutory biodiversity net gain (BNG) 
framework coming into effect and therefore it has therefore been assessed against Policy DEV26 of 
the JLP supported by the SPD and adaptation measure A6 of the CEPS, which require a 
proportionate approach to enhancements for minor applications.  
 
46. The applicant's Ecology Report states that the site is not located within or adjacent to any 
statutory nature conservation site. The site is located within a Great Crested Newt Consultation 
Zone but the site consists wholly of hardstanding and species-poor, maintained amenity grassland 
with no water bodies. The Report therefore concludes that the site has negligible ecological value. It 
is likely that birds such as house sparrows occasionally forage over the amenity grassland but there 
are no nesting opportunities, and no other species are likely to use the site due to the lack of habitat.  
 
47. The application proposes to achieve a 17.52% net gain in biodiversity habitat units through 
native tree planting and the creation of additional grassland including in rear gardens. Bird nesting 
opportunities will also be provided through the provision of nesting boxes on or within each 
dwelling. The location is deemed unsuitable for bat boxes.    
 
48. The Natural Infrastructure Team supports the findings of the Ecology Report, advising that 
the impact of the development would be negligible and insignificant. There are no trees within the 
application site, with a single tree located on raised ground to the east of the site abutting Bampton 
Road. Nevertheless the Natural Infrastructure Team anticipates no impact on trees. Further details 
of the proposed landscaping scheme to include plant species, size, and management provisions 
remain outstanding and should be agreed via planning conditions. Subject to imposing these 
conditions, officers are satisfied that the proposal complies with polices DEV26 and DEV28 of the 
JLP. 
 
Habitat Regulations Assessment 
49. The Natural Infrastructure Team has undertaken an appropriate assessment for the purpose 
of the Habitat Regulations 2017 and advised that the adverse effects arising from the proposal are 
wholly consistent with and inclusive of the effects detailed in the Tamar Estuaries Management Plan 
and the Yealm Estuary Environmental Management Plan. Therefore providing the mitigation agreed in 
said plans is implemented, it can be concluded that there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of 
the Plymouth Sound and Estuaries Special Area of Conservation and the Tamar Estuaries Complex 
Special Protection Area. 
  
Drainage  
50. The application site is in located in the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 1 and is considered 
to be at a low risk from fluvial or tidal flooding. Surface water flood risk mapping indicates the site is 
generally at a low risk of flooding from a 1 in 100 year return period event. There is an isolated area 
of surface water ponding close to Bampton Road. 
 
51. Public sewer records indicate there is a 225 millimetre diameter SWW surface water sewer 
within the site extent near the eastern boundary of the site. There is also a 225 millimetre diameter 
SWW surface water sewer on the east side of Bampton Road. These sewers ultimately discharge to 
the Leigham Stream. 
 
 

Page 16



 

 

52. A drainage strategy has been submitted that proposes to discharge surface water from the 
housing development to the SWW surface water sewer using a new connection at an attenuated 
rate of 5 litres per second. Attenuation storage is provided with an underground tank under the rear 
gardens. The levels of the site/tank require that a pump is used to discharge surface water to the 
sewer. Two pumps have been proposed, running alternately to mitigate the risk of pump failure. 
Surface water drainage from the retained car park area of the site is to remain as existing i.e. directly 
to the SWW surface water sewer. 
 
53. Modelling results have been submitted that support the design standard of 1 in 100 year 
return period with a 50% allowance for climate change. Written confirmation of approval from 
SWW of the proposed connection and discharge rate has been submitted. A maintenance plan has 
been submitted stating that the surface water drainage for the new surface will remain under private 
ownership and the responsibility of PCH. 
 
54. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) was consulted on the application and raised no 
objection subject to imposing a condition that requires submission of a Construction Environment 
Management Plan. The Environment Agency confirmed that it is not statutory consultee for this 
application, and it did not wish to comment.  
 
55. SWW's consultation response suggests that the proposal is to discharge to the combined 
sewerage network, which is incorrect. Officers are satisfied that the Run-off Destination Hierarchy 
has been followed for the housing area of the site. It is considered unreasonable to require the 
applicant to improve surface water drainage on the retained public car park given the limited extent 
of the works. The replacement of hardstanding with gardens and landscaping will result in a net 
reduction in the impermeable surface that currently drains directly to the SWW surface water 
sewer at an uncontrolled rate.  
 
56. One of the objectors raised concerns regarding the increase in sewage that would be created 
by the development. However, SWW has approved the proposed foul water connection, which 
indicates that the increase can be accommodated by the local sewer network.   
 
57. To summarise, the LPA considers that the proposed development and drainage strategy 
provide betterment to the receiving surface water sewer network, and the application is considered 
consistent with Policy DEV35 of the JLP.  
 
Energy and Sustainability  
58. The application is supported by a Sustainability Statement and Climate Emergency 
Compliance Form that set out the applicant's approach to reducing carbon emissions. The energy 
demand and thermal efficiency standards are not known at this stage as the detailed design will be 
informed by the applicant's design and build tender process. However, the application proposes to 
provide each dwelling with solar photovoltaic panels and an air source heat pump to provide onsite 
renewable energy generation and low carbon space and water heating systems. The Sustainability 
Statement also confirms that all dwellings will be designed to provide high insulation values and air 
tightness, and compliant with Part L (Conservation of fuel and power) and Part O (Overheating) of 
the Building Regulations. 
 
59. The proposal is expected to achieve the 20% carbon emission savings required by mitigation 
measure M1 of the CEPS although full details of the energy scheme including carbon savings shall be 
submitted prior to the commencement of development. The application is considered to be 
consistent with Policy DEV32 of the JLP.  
 
 
 

Page 17



 

 

Land Quality 
60. A Main Investigation Report (MIR) containing the results of intrusive ground investigations 
has been submitted. The MIR confirms that the underlying geology comprises Made Ground 
overlying weathered Upper Devonian Slates. No elevated concentrations of contaminants were 
found in the Made Ground but elevated levels of arsenic were identified in one of the underlying 
bedrock samples. The MIR recommends further sampling and assessment to establish whether the 
elevated arsenic sample is significant, and to inform a remediation strategy that safeguards against 
potential health risks.  
 
61. The Council's Public Protection Service agrees with the recommendations set out in the MIR 
and advises that a land quality condition is applied that requires the submission of a detailed 
remediation scheme prior to the commencement of development to ensure construction workers 
and users of the site are protected from harmful health effects. This condition has been agreed by 
the applicant, and the proposal is considered to be compliant with Policy DEV2 of the JLP. 
 
Waste Management 
62. The proposed development would result in the removal of the existing recycling facilities 
from the site, which include two Council owned bottle banks and a privately owned clothes bank. 
The initial plans laid out space to allow the recycling facilities to be relocated on the site should the 
Council and the owner of the clothes bank wish to maintain these facilities. However, this space has 
been removed from the current plans to maximise car parking for the Local Centre. 
 
63. Officers sought advice from the Council's Street Services (Waste) team, which is fully 
supportive of removing these facilities from the site. Street Services advised that the bottle bank is 
little used by members of the public as glass is collected as part of the Council's household recycling 
service. The Council also provides facilities for glass and clothes recycling at Chelson Meadow. The 
recycling facilities are therefore considered redundant, and their removal is unlikely to affect public 
access to recycling facilities or conflict with local sustainability policies. The LHA has advised that a 
commercial waste vehicle could navigate the car park to access the pub's service yard for 
commercial waste collections/recycling. The removal of the recycling facilities is therefore supported. 
 
64. Policy DEV31 of the JLP requires new developments to be provided with integrated facilities 
for the storage of recycling and non-recyclable waste. Each dwelling has a private rear garden in 
which waste can be stored. The plans show a 'bin presentation point' where bins can be stored on 
collection days before being returned to rear gardens. An informative has been applied to discourage 
future occupiers from storing bins at the presentation point except for during collections as they 
would appear unsightly and could contribute to crime, for example if used as climbing aids. 
 
9. Human Rights 
Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights 
Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives 
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this 
recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and 
expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as 
expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 
 
10. Local Finance Considerations 
The LPA has assessed that this development will attract an obligation to pay a financial levy under the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

 

11. Planning Obligations 
The purpose of planning obligations is to mitigate or compensate for adverse impacts of a 
development, or to prescribe or secure something that is needed to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms. Planning obligations can only lawfully constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission where the three statutory tests of Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations 2010 
are met. The application is for minor development with the number of dwellings falling below the 
threshold for affordable housing delivery. As such, officers consider that a planning obligation to 
secure the affordable housing is not necessary and not fairly or reasonably related in scale to the 
development. No other planning obligations are required. 
 
12. Equalities and Diversities 
This planning application has had due regard to Section 149 of the Equality Act with regard to the 
Public Sector Equality Duty and has concluded the application does not cause discrimination on the 
grounds of gender, race and disability. The development would provide two Part M4(2) accessible 
dwellings to help to meet the needs of persons with accessibility requirements in accordance with 
Policy DEV9 of the JLP. 
 
13. Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 
The application proposes to utilise brownfield land in an existing residential neighbourhood to 
provide much-need affordable and accessible housing, which would be let to eligible households at 
social rent levels. The LPA has received public objections relating to the reduction in car parking. 
However, the peak parking demand observed by the LPA is for 64 parking spaces, although Google 
Earth images show 68 vehicles parked on the site. The application proposes to retain and formalise 
66 parking spaces for public use. Therefore officers consider that any overspill parking would likely 
be insignificant.  
  
Consultees have raised concerns regarding the layout and location of the development. However, 
the city is experiencing an unprecedented housing crisis and the delivery of seven affordable homes 
on a brownfield site is considered to outweigh the limited adverse impacts of the development on 
housing and visual quality. Therefore having taken account of the NPPF and S38(6) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the application is recommended for conditional approval. 

 

14. Recommendation 

In respect of the application dated 15.06.2023 it is recommended to Grant Conditionally. 

 

15. Conditions / Reasons 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans:  

  
1 CONDITION: APPROVED PLANS 

  
 Location Plan 2229-100-000 Rev P05  received 15/06/23 
 Existing Site Plan With Topo 2229-100-001 Rev P05  received 15/06/23 
 Proposed Roof Plan 2229-100-101 Rev P08  received 15/06/23 
 Proposed Bungalow 2229-100-150 Rev P02  received 15/06/23 
 Proposed Terrace 2229-100-155 Rev P03  received 15/06/23 
 Proposed Site Plan 2229-100-100 Rev P018  received 13/05/24 
  
Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of good planning, in accordance with the Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014–2034 (2019). 

Page 19



 

 

 
 
 2 CONDITION: COMMENCE WITHIN 3 YEARS 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years beginning 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: 
To comply with Section 51 of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 3 CONDITION: LAND QUALITY 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that required to 
be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation shall not commence until sections 1 to 
3 below have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is found after development has 
begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected 
contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing until section 4 of this 
condition has been complied with in relation to that contamination. 
 
Section 1: Submission of Detailed Remediation Scheme 
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by 
removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural and 
historical environment shall be prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives, remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme 
must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. 
 
Section 2: Implementation of Approved Detailed Remediation Scheme 
The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the 
remediation scheme works. The approved remediation scheme shall be carried out in accordance 
with its terms prior to the commencement of development, other than that required to carry out 
remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification 
report must be produced that evidences the remediation and demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
scheme carried out, must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Section 3: Land Quality - Reporting of Unexpected Contamination 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development 
that was not previously identified; it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority. Development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected 
contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing until this condition 
has been complied with in relation to that contamination. 
 
An investigation and risk assessment shall be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
Section 1, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme shall be prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of Section 2 above, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 

Page 20



 

 

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 
report shall be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority 
in accordance with Section 3 above. 
 
Reason (common to all): To ensure that risks from land contamination to the environment, future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors; and 
to avoid conflict with Policies DEV1 and DEV2 of the Plymouth and Southwest Devon Joint Local 
Plan 2014-2034 (2019). 
 
Justification:  
Necessary to protect the environment and human health. 
 
4 CONDITION: DRAINAGE CONSTRUCTION ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT 

PLAN 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
The development shall not commence until a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall 
include method statements to demonstrate how the water environment, the new drainage system, 
habitats and protected species will be protected from surface water pollution during the demolition 
and construction phases.  
 
It is recommended that the 'Yellow Fish' scheme is used for surface water gullies and drainage 
features as outlined in the 'Yellow Fish Guidance Manual'.  This is required to supplement and not 
replace any proposed pollution prevention devices proposed for the surface water drainage system.  
 
The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved CEMP. 
 
Reason: 
To minimise the risk of pollution of surface water by ensuring the provision of satisfactory surface 
water management during development to ensure compliance with policies DEV2, DEV26 and 
DEV35 of the Plymouth and Southwest Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2023). 
 
Justification:  
Necessary to ensure surface water drainage impacts do not lead to adverse impacts to wider 
drainage infrastructure, the water environment and to habitats and protected species during 
demolition and construction. 
 
 5 CONDITION: LANDSCAPE DETAILS AND BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
No development shall take place until the details of the landscape works have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape works shall accord with the 
submitted Biodiversity Metric 4.0 that is hereby approved. The landscape works shall include:  
 
a. Full soft landscape specification; plant species and size (to HTA standards), soil/, planting spec and 
establishment care.  
b. The arrangement of proposed soft landscape elements and soil layouts/elevations (min 1:200 
scale). Plans should include a planting schedule for reference.  

Page 21



 

 

c. Planting details (1:20 scale or as appropriate) including (but not limited to) tree pits,  
 
All landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be 
carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development. Any dead or defective planting 
shall be replaced with a period of 5 years.  
 
Reason:  
To ensure that satisfactory landscaping works are carried out in accordance with policies DEV20, 
DEV23 and DEV26 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2023).  
 
Justification: 
To ensure that landscaping scheme and biodiversity net gain measures are deliverable prior to the 
commencement of the construction phase of the development 
 
 6 CONDITION: ENERGY 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
No development shall commence until an energy strategy to include details of onsite renewable 
energy production and carbon emission savings has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The onsite renewable energy production methods shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the development and retained 
and used for energy supply thereafter. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the development incorporates onsite renewable energy production equipment or 
other measures to off-set predicted carbon emissions for the development in accordance with Policy 
DEV32 of the Plymouth and Southwest Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019), the Climate 
Emergency Planning Statement (2022) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2023). 
 
Justification: 
To ensure the development is designed to achieve 20% carbon emission savings. 
 
 7 CONDITION: CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CTMP shall include details 
relating to the detailed programme of works, details of construction vehicle movements including 
number, type and size of vehicles; construction operation hours; routes being used by construction 
vehicles; and contractors parking arrangements. The highway works hereby proposed shall be 
carried out strictly in accordance with the approved CTMP. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the traffic impacts associated with the construction phase of the works does not lead 
to adverse impacts upon the operation of the Local Road Network in accordance with Policy DEV29 
of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019). 
 
Justification: 
Necessary to ensure provisions are put in place to safeguard the safe operation of the highway 
network during construction of the development. 

Page 22



 

 

 
 8 CONDITION: HIGHWAY DILAPIDATION SURVEY 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
No development shall commence until a highway dilapidation survey has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The survey shall assess the existing condition of 
all highway infrastructure which will be impacted upon through the construction activities associated 
with the development hereby approved. This shall also include routes to and from the site being 
used by construction traffic. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that any damage to the existing highway infrastructure arising from the construction of 
the proposed development is properly recorded and addressed by the developer on completion of 
the works in the interests of the safety of all users of the highway in accordance with Policy DEV29 
of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019). 
 
Justification: 
Necessary to ensure provisions are put in place to safeguard the safe operation of the highway 
network during construction of the development. 
 
 9 CONDITION: STREET LIGHTING DETAILS 
 
PRE-DAMP PROOF COURSE 
 
No development shall proceed past damp proof course level until details of the external lighting 
scheme to serve the housing development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The lighting scheme shall ensure that gates, shared spaces and front 
entrance doors are well illuminated. The approved lighting scheme shall be fully implemented before 
the first dwelling is occupied and henceforth permanently maintained for the occupiers of the site. 
For the avoidance of doubt, this condition applies to the 1,196sqm area of land that is shown to be in 
the applicant's ownership on the Proposed Site Plan (drawing no. 229-100-100 Rev P018 (received 
13 May 2024). 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that adequate external lighting is provided for future occupiers of the site and to reduce 
opportunities for crime and disorder and the fear of crime in accordance with policies DEV10 and 
DEV20 of the and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2023). 
 
10 CONDITION: SURFACING MATERIALS 
 
PRE-DAMP PROOF COURSE 
 
No development shall proceed past DPC level until of the outstanding surfacing materials have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt 
this includes but is not limited to ground coverings, footpath edging, render, facing brickwork, 
canopies, roof tiles, fascias, soffits, downpipes, gates and boundary treatments. There is an 
expectation that the render will be a high quality silicone based render that is resistant to staining 
and discolouration. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

 

Reason: 
To ensure that the materials are suitable for intended use and are in keeping with the character of 
the area in accordance with Policies DEV20 and DEV23 of the Plymouth and South West Devon 
Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2023). 
 
11 CONDITION: PROVISION OF PARKING AREA 
  
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
Each parking space shown on the approved plans shall be constructed, drained, surfaced and made 
available for use before the unit of accommodation that it serves is first occupied and thereafter that 
space shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles. For the avoidance of 
doubt, this condition applies to the 12 parking spaces (numbered 1-7 and 62-66) that are situated 
within the 1,196sqm area of land that is shown to be in the applicant's ownership on the Proposed 
Site Plan (drawing no. 229-100-100 Rev P018 (received 13 May 2024). 
 
Reason: 
To enable vehicles used by occupiers or visitors to be parked off the public highway so as to avoid 
damage to amenity and interference with the free flow of traffic on the highway in accordance with 
Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2023). 
 
12 CONDITION: CYCLE PROVISION 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
No dwelling shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the site in accordance with details 
previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for a minimum of 14 
bicycles to be securely parked. The secure area for storing bicycles shown on the approved plan shall 
remain available for its intended purpose and shall not be used for any other purpose without the 
prior consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
In order to promote cycling as an alternative to the use of private cars in accordance with Policy 
DEV29 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2023). 
 
13 CONDITION: ELECTRICAL VEHICLE CHARGING PROVISION 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
No dwelling shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the site in accordance with the 
approved plans for the provision of EV charging points. The electrical vehicle charging points shown 
on the approved plan shall remain available for its intended purpose and shall not be used for any 
other purpose without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
In order to promote sustainable modes of transport in accordance with Policy DEV29 of the 
Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2023). 
 
 

Page 24



 

 

14 CONDITION: WHITE LINING AND CONSTRUCTION OF 
FOOTWAY/FOOTPATH 

 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
1) No dwelling shall be occupied until the footway on the southern side of the bell mouth of the 
junction with Bampton Road and the footpath connecting through to Bampton Road on the northern 
side have been constructed in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
2) The Local Centre car park shall be lined within eight weeks of occupation of the first dwelling. For 
the avoidance of doubt, this applies to the public car parking spaces numbered 1-61 on the Proposed 
Site Plan drawing no. 229-100-100 Rev P018 (received 13 May 2024). 
 
Reason: 
To enable vehicles used by occupiers or visitors to be parked off the public highway so as to avoid 
damage to amenity and interference with the free flow of traffic on the highway and to ensure that 
an appropriate and safe access is provided in the interests of public safety, convenience and amenity 
in accordance with Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 
(2019). 
 
15 CONDITION: LANDSCAPE AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
Prior to the occupation of any phase of the development a Landscape and Ecological Management 
Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
content of the LEMP shall include the following; 
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management. 
c) Aims and objectives of management for both the landscape elements and the biodiversity features. 
d) Prescriptions for management actions to achieve aims and objectives 
e) Preparation of a works schedule (including annual work plan capable of being rolled forward over 
a 5 year period). 
f) Body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan. 
g) Detailed monitoring strategy and mechanism to introduce adaptive management where necessary 
(i.e. contingencies). 
 
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long term 
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(s) 
responsible for its delivery. This should be for a period of at least a 30 years. The plan shall also set 
out circumstances where adaptive management will be introduced where the results from 
monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met. The plan will 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  
In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of biological 
interest and to ensure that satisfactory landscaping works are carried out, in accordance Policies 
DEV20, DEV23 and DEV26 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 
(2019) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2023). 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

 

16 CONDITION: RENDER MAINTENANCE SCHEDULE 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
No dwelling shall be occupied until details of the Maintenance Schedule for the external render have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Maintenance 
Schedule will provide details of how the external render shall be maintained in a good, clean 
condition and in accordance with any manufacturer guarantee including the frequency of planned 
maintenance and how any staining/discolouration will be rectified promptly. The approved 
Maintenance Schedule shall be implemented for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the development meets good standards of design and that the materials used will 
endure over the lifetime in accordance with policies DEV20 and DEV23 of the Plymouth and South 
West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019), the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) and 
the National Design Guide (2021). 
 
17 CONDITION: GATES 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
1) Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the gate that provides 
access to the shared rear access lane shall be 1.8 metres in height and lockable from both sides. The 
gate shall be designed to be difficult to climb, crawl under or removed from hinges.  
 
2) Rear garden gates shall be the same height (1.8 metres) and robust construction as the adjoining 
boundary treatments and shall be lockable from both sides. The gates and locks shall be provided 
prior to first occupation of the development and they shall be maintained in good working condition 
thereafter. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that satisfactory measures are put in place to help design out crime, in accordance with 
policies DEV10 and DEV20 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 
(2019) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2023). 
 
18 CONDITION: ACCESSIBLE HOUSING 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
A minimum of 2 of the dwellings shall be built to meet national standards for accessibility and 
adaptability (Category M4(2) of the Building Regulations). 
 
Prior to the occupation of the M4(2) dwellings, an independent verification report shall be provided 
which confirms that the dwellings have been constructed to the required specification. The report 
shall also set out the qualifications of the examiner who undertakes the verification. These dwellings 
shall remain M4(2) compliant in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the development provides a range of house types to meet accessibility and 
adaptability needs to comply with Policy DEV9 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local 
Plan 2014-2034 (2019). 
 
 

Page 26



 

 

19 CONDITION: AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 
The seven dwellings that are hereby approved shall be let to eligible households at a Social Rent that 
meets guideline target rents determined through the national rent regime. Rent levels shall not 
exceed target rent levels recommended for the area and type of accommodation by Homes England 
or its statutory successor. The initial service charge payable by any occupier of the affordable 
housing units shall not be more than £265.41 per annum, rising at no greater than the Retail Price 
Index per annum unless exceptionally otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
To secure public benefits that ensure the development is in accordance with the Plymouth and South 
West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019). 
 
20 CONDITION: ECOLOGICAL ENHANCEMENT 
 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the development shall be carried out in strict accordance with 
the Ecology Report (SWE ref. 728 received 15 June 2023) that is hereby approved. For the avoidance 
of doubt this requires native tree planting, grassland habitat creation and the provision of bird nesting 
boxes on each dwelling.   
 
Reason: 
In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of biological 
interest, in accordance with Policy DEV26 of the Plymouth and Southwest Devon Joint Local Plan 
2014-2034 (2019) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2023). 
 
 
21 CONDITION: SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE STRATEGY 
 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved Proposed Residential 
Development Flood Risk Assessment, Drainage and Maintenance Strategy (report ref. 1753 - C300 - 
Rev A, received 15 June 2023). 
 
Reason: 
To ensure the drainage provisions within the development are adequately provided for and do not 
cause undue problems to the wider drainage infrastructure, in accordance with Policy DEV35 of the 
Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2023). 
 
22 CONDITION: NOISE 
 
All dwellings shall be constructed in accordance with BS8233:2014 and WHO Guidelines for 
Community Noise so as to provide sound insulation against externally generated noise. The good 
room criteria shall be applied, meaning there must be no more than 35 dB LAeq for living rooms 
(0700 to 2300 daytime). For bedrooms, externally generated noise must not exceed 30 dB LAeq and 
45 dB LAMax, fast (2300 to 0700 night-time), with windows shut and other means of ventilation 
provided.  
 
Reason: 
To protect the residential and general amenity of the area from noise emanating from business and 
avoid conflict with Policies DEV1 and DEV2 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 
2014-2034 (2019). 
 

 

Page 27



 

 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 
1 INFORMATIVE: (CIL LIABLE) DEVELOPMENT LIABLE FOR COMMUNITY 

INFRASTRUCTURE CONTRIBUTION 
 
The Local Planning Authority has assessed that this development will attract an obligation to pay a 
financial levy under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).  Details of 
the process can be found on our website at www.plymouth.gov.uk/CIL.  You can contact the Local 
Planning Authority at any point to discuss your liability calculation; however a formal Liability 
Notice will only be issued by the Local Planning Authority once "planning permission first permits 
development" as defined by the CIL Regulations.  You must ensure that you submit any relevant 
forms and get any pre-commencement details agreed before commencing work.  Failure to do so 
may result in surcharges or enforcement action. 
 
Further information on CIL can be found on our website here: 
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningapplications/communityinfrastructur
elevy  
 
More information and CIL Forms can be accessed via the Planning Portal: 
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200126/applications/70/community_infrastructure_levy/5  
 
More detailed information on CIL including process flow charts, published by the Ministry of 
Housing, Local Communities and Government can also be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy  
 
 2 INFORMATIVE: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL (NEGOTIATION) 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Article 31 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the Council has worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant including 
pre-application discussions and has negotiated amendments to the application to enable a 
recommendation of conditional approval. 
 
 3 INFORMATIVE: COUNCIL CODE OF PRACTICE 
 
During development of the scheme approved by this planning permission, the developer shall 
comply with the relevant sections of the Public Protection Service, Code of Practice for 
Construction and Demolition Sites, with particular regards to the hours of working. Demolition or 
construction works shall not take place outside: 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays; 
08:30 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays; nor at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. The Code 
of Practice can be found on the Council's website: 
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ConstructionCodeOfPractice.pdf  
 
 4 INFORMATIVE: PUBLIC HIGHWAY APPROVAL 
 
This planning permission does not authorise the applicant to carry out works within the publicly 
maintained highway.  The applicant should contact Plymouth Highways for the necessary approval. 
Precise details of all works within the public highway must be agreed with the Highway Authority 
and an appropriate Permit must be obtained before works commence. 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

 

 5 INFORMATIVE: AGENT FOR CHANGE 
 
The "Agent for Change" principle will apply. The Council is unable to take any action to require a 
reduction in noise levels from nearby licensed or commercial businesses in existence before the 
development is finished. 
 
 6 INFORMATIVE: SECURE BY DESIGN 
 
All external doors and easily accessible windows shall be sourced from a Secured by Design (SBD) 
member company. The requirements of SBD are that doors and windows are not only tested to 
meet PAS 24 (2022) standard by the product manufacturer, but independent third-party 
certification from a UKAS accredited independent third-party certification authority is also in place, 
thus exceeding the requirements of Approved Document Q and reducing much time and effort in 
establishing provenance of non SBD approved products. 
 
Additionally, the developer's housing management provisions shall stipulate that once emptied, 
refuse/recycling bins/boxes shall be returned to rear gardens and not left out at the 'bin 
presentation point' shown on the approved plans. Such receptacles, wheelie bins in particular, when 
left out are not only unsightly but can contribute to crime and disorder. They can be used as 
climbing aids, when left next to rear boundary treatments, or easily removed to be used as a 
climbing aid elsewhere. 
 
 7 INFORMATIVE: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 
 
The following supporting documents have been considered in relation to this application: 
 
- Application Form - received 15 June 2023 
- Biodiversity Metric 4.0 - received 15 June 2023 
- Design and Access Statement - received 15 June 2023 
- Drainage Strategy - received 15 June 2023 
- Ecology Report - received 15 June 2023 
- Preliminary Investigation Report - received 15 June 2023 
- Main Investigation Report - received 15 June 2023 
- Schedule of Accommodation - received 15 June 2023 
- Sustainability Statement - received 15 June 2023 
- Transport Statement - received 15 June 2023 
- Affordable Housing Statement - received 28 March 2024 
- Technical Notice - received 28 March 2024 
 
8 INFORMATIVE: BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN AND MINOR DEVELOPMENT 

(TRANSITIONAL ARRANGEMENT) 
 
In accordance with The Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024, minor 
applications made before 2nd April 2024 are exempt from Biodiversity Net Gain requirements and 
therefore this application is not subject to the mandatory Biodiversity Gain condition. 
 
 9 INFORMATIVE: CAR PARK MANAGEMENT 
 
Use of the retained public car park shall be monitored by the landowner, with the car park 
management strategy updated as required. Management tools such as Traffic Regulation Orders 
should be considered as part of the long term car park management options if required. 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Version1 March 2013  Not protectively marked OR Protect OR Restricted 

OFFICIAL 

ADDENDUM REPORT 
Planning Committee

 
 

Item Number: 01 

Site: Land To The West Of Bampton Road, Leigham, Plymouth, PL6 8QB 

Planning Application Number: 23/00886/FUL 

Applicant: Mrs Nicola Daniel 

Page: 6-27 

 

Representations 

A letter from PCL Planning Ltd was sent on behalf of the applicant to Planning Committee 
Members on 13 September 2024. The letter does not introduce any new information, but it 
restates the public benefits of the development with particular reference to the scale of the 
current housing crisis. The letter highlights the benefits associated with the provision of a new 
footway on the southern side of the bell mouth junction with Bampton Road, and a footpath to 
Churchstow Walk to the north. Officers agree that the proposed footways will enhance 
pedestrian connectivity and deliver a public benefit that was not highlighted in the Officer’s Report.   

The Local Planning Authority has received 3 additional public letters of objection since the public 
consultation period ended. The new objections cite similar reasons to those described in section 6 
of the Officer’s Report. One objection raises concern that construction noise could affect the 
operation of the Windmill Public House.  

Officers recognise that construction sites can cause disturbances to local residents and businesses 
although these are short term and temporary in nature. An informative has been applied to advise 
the developer that the development should be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Code 
of Practice for Construction and Demolition Sites. This states that construction works shall not 
take place outside 08:00-18:00 on Mondays to Fridays, 08:30-13:00 hours on Saturdays and at no 
time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. Construction works are not expected to take place in the 
evenings when the Public House is likely to be most used.  

The new objections take the overall number of representations to 104 letters from 93 individuals. 

 

Affordable Housing 

The wording of Condition 19 (Affordable Housing) has been amended following discussions with 
the applicant to ensure the provisions do not apply to any tenant exercising its right to 
acquire/shared ownership, or any mortgagee/chargee recovering its interest in the site/dwellings. 
These provisions are standard practice for Section 106 Agreements and necessary to allow the 
developer to secure borrowing to fund development. However, there is no Section 106 
Agreement for the reasons outlined in paragraphs 7-8 of the Officer’s Report. Therefore the 
provisions have been added to Condition 19. The amended condition wording is as follows: 

 

 

Page 31



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Condition 19: Affordable Housing 

The seven dwellings that are hereby approved shall be let to eligible households at a Social Rent 
that meets guideline target rents determined through the national rent regime. Rent levels shall 
not exceed target rent levels recommended for the area and type of accommodation by Homes 
England or its statutory successor. The initial service charge payable by any occupier of the 
affordable housing units shall not be more than £265.41 per annum, rising at no greater than the 
Retail Price Index per annum unless exceptionally otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  

The provisions in this condition shall: 
(i) Cease to apply to a dwelling that has been let by a shared ownership lease when the 

leaseholder thereof shall have purchased 100% of the equity in the dwelling pursuant to 
the shared ownership lease; and 

(ii) Not be binding upon any person or body for the time being holding a mortgage or 
charge upon a dwelling nor upon a receiver appointed by such a mortgagee or chargee 
in order to realise its security or any administrator (howsoever appointed) including a 
housing administrator who shall be entitled to sell or otherwise dispose of the 
dwellings freed and discharged from the restrictions in this condition and nor upon any 
persons or bodies deriving title through such mortgagee or chargee or receiver. 

(iii) This condition shall not be binding on any completed dwelling where the Registered 
Provider shall be required to dispose of the same pursuant to a right to acquire under 
Section 16 of the Housing Act 1996 or any similar legislative provisions or similar right 
applicable. 

 

Reason: 

To secure public benefits that ensure the development is in accordance with the Plymouth and 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019). 

 

 

Page 32



PLANNING APPLICATION 
OFFICERS REPORT 

Site Address 40 North Hill  Plymouth  PL4 8ET 

Proposal 
Change of use, conversion and extension of existing building to provide 
purpose built student accommodation 

Applicant Mr Justin Bryce 

Application Type Full Application 

Target Date 15.07.2024 
Committee 
Date 19.09.2024 

Extended Target Date N/A 

Decision Category Councillor Referral 

Case Officer Ms Abbey Edwards 

Recommendation Grant Conditionally 

Application 
Number 24/00646/FUL Item 02 

Date Valid 20.05.2024 Ward DRAKE 

Page 33 Agenda Item 6.2



 

 

 
 
The application has been referred to the Planning Committee by Councillor Ricketts.  
 
1.  Description of Site 
This application relates to 40-42 North Hill, a mid-19th century, double fronted commercial unit 
located on a corner plot where Bedford Terrace meets North Hill. The building sits within a row of 
three commercial units and is single storey in height with a roof terrace. The building was previously 
in use as a drinking establishment and restaurant (Sui Generis) but has been vacant since 2019 
despite gaining planning permission for its conversion to offices (Use Class E) in 2022.  
 
The surrounding area can be described as a mixed-use area demonstrating a wide range of 
commercial uses including offices, shops, cafes, bars and solicitors, however the predominant use is 
residential. The site is within walking distance to Mutley Plain District Centre and the City Centre 
and is well served by public transport links.   
 
2.  Proposal Description 
Change of use, conversion and extension of existing building to provide purpose built student 
accommodation. 
 
3. Pre-application Enquiry 
22/01759/MOR - Pre-application for a change of use and extension to building to create purpose 
built student accommodation (16 bed) - Officers unable to support the principle of purpose built 
student accommodation due to insufficient information to demonstrate compliance with Joint Local 
Plan Policy DEV12 (Purpose Built Student Accommodation in the Plymouth Policy Area). Officers 

Page 34



 

 

raised concerns in regard to building massing, materials and detailing and a lack of natural daylight 
and outlook to some of the bedrooms. Further information is needed in regard to vehicle drop off/ 
collection area, cycle storage and refuse storage.   
 
4. Relevant Planning History 
83/02720/FUL- Installation of new shopfront - Granted conditionally  
 
90/03622/FUL- Change of use of basement and ground floor to café/restaurant - Granted  
conditionally  
 
98/00319/FUL- Alterations to restaurant including new shop front - Granted conditionally  
 
03/00584/FUL- Alterations to front elevation, to enlarge windows - Granted conditionally  
 
03/01945/FUL- Alterations to front elevation including installation of new shopfronts, and change of 
use of basement from retail (Class A1) to restaurant (Class A3) - Grant conditionally  
 
06/01263/FUL- Formation of roof deck area at first floor level (on no.42), with associated enclosed 
access stairway and roof deck enclosure - Granted conditionally 
 
22/01306/FUL - Change use from bar and premise (Sui Generis) to offices (Class E) - Grant 
Conditionally  
 
5. Consultation Responses 
Public Protection team - No objection subject to a condition relating to hours of construction and 
demolition  
 
Local Highway Authority - No objection subject to conditions relating to a construction traffic 
management plan, highway dilapidation survey, travel plan, drop off car parking provision, cycle 
provision and a student management plan  
Urban Design - No objection, however replacement of render with an alternative material is 
preferable to avoid issues with staining along with the provision of an integral bin store to avoid 
street clutter and a detrimental impact on the living conditions for some of the student bedrooms. 
 
Economic Development - No objection, evidence has been provided to suggest the site has been 
clearly and effectively marketed for a substantial period of time and to date no commercial deal has 
been forthcoming. Active frontage on North Hill is encouraged to retain vibrancy and provide 
continuity in line with the existing frontages. 
 
Community Connections - Standing advice provided in regard to building layout. 
 
Waste (Commercial) - No comments received. 
 
University of Plymouth - Supportive of proposed development.  There is a need for further good 
quality accommodation, helping to take pressure off other residential housing. A higher proportion 
of students are now selecting purpose-built student accommodation beyond their first year of study. 
 
Designing out Crime - No objection subject to conditions requiring the submission of a student 
management plan and implementation of the submitted designing out crime statement. 
 
Natural Infrastructure team - No objection subject to conditions requiring the submission of full 
landscaping details along with a landscape and environmental management plan. 
 

Page 35



 

 

Lead Local Flood Authority - No objection subject to further information including details of existing 
and proposed surface water drainage system, details of proposed management and maintenance and 
a construction environment management plan. 
 
South West Water - No objection, proposed connection to combined sewer is accepted. 
 
6. Representations 
10 letters of representation have been received from 9 contributors, objecting to the proposal on 
the following grounds: 
- Local area is saturated with student accommodation  
- North Hill should include vibrant commercial and local residential uses  
- Not enough housing stock for local people, single professionals and graduates  
- Building is out of character with historic North Hill  
- Loss of vital commercial unit  
- Additional student accommodation exacerbates issues with litter and parking  
- Existing student accommodation is not fully occupied in the City 
- Needs to be a better balance between students and local community to create better social 

cohesion   
 
7. Relevant Policy Framework 
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, national development management policies, local finance and any other material 
considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004 Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications 
are to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of decision making, as on March 26th 2019, the Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 is now part of the development plan for Plymouth 
City Council, South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts 
South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park). 
 
On 26 March 2019 the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by all three of 
the component authorities. Following adoption, the three authorities jointly notified the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) of their choice to monitor the Housing 
Requirement at the whole plan level. This is for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) 
and the 5 Year Housing Land Supply assessment. A letter from MHCLG to the Authorities was 
received on 13 May 2019 confirming the change. On 19th December 2023 the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities published the HDT 2022 measurement.  This confirmed the 
Plymouth, South Hams and West Devon's joint measurement as 121% and the policy consequences 
are none. 
 
Therefore no buffer is required to be applied for the purposes of calculating a 5 year housing land 
supply at the whole plan level.  The combined authorities can demonstrate a 5-year housing land 
supply of 5.84 years at end of March 2023 (the 2023 Monitoring Point). This is set out in the 
Plymouth, South Hams & West Devon Local Planning Authorities' Housing Position Statement 2023 
(published 26th February 2024)." 
 
Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), National Design Guidance, the scale and urgency of the 
climate change emergency, Plymouth City Councils Declaration on Climate Emergency (March 2019) 
for a carbon neutral city by 2030 and the Plymouth and South West Devon Climate Emergency 
Planning Statement (CEPS) 2022. Additionally, the following planning documents are also material 
considerations in the determination of the application: 
- Plymouth and South-West Devon Supplementary Planning Document (2020)  
 

Page 36



 

 

8. Analysis 
8.1. This application has been considered in the context of the development plan, the Framework 
and other material considerations as set out in Section 7. 
 
Principle of Development 
8.2. The principle of the development is whether the creation of student accommodation and the 
subsequent loss of the commercial unit is acceptable. 
 
8.3. Paragraph 63 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that the need for housing 
should be assessed and reflected in planning policies. These groups should include (but are not 
limited to) those who require affordable housing; families with children; older people (including those 
who require retirement housing, housing-with-care and care homes); students; people with 
disabilities; service families; travellers; people who rent their homes and people wishing to 
commission or build their own homes. 
 
8.4. At a strategic level, Policy SPT3 of the Joint Local Plan identifies that 19,000 new homes are 
required to be built in the city by 2034, and these are required to meet the current and future needs 
of the population including students.  
 
8.5. The Joint Local Plan identifies site allocations in the City Centre which make a provision for 
PBSA. The application site is not within an allocated site.  
 
8.6. Policy DEV12 (Purpose Built Student Accommodation in the Plymouth Policy Area) 
recognises that there is a need to provide accommodation for students and it is preferable that 
student needs are met as far as possible in purpose built student accommodation (PBSA) as this can; 
reduce the need to convert more housing that is currently available for families, create sustainable 
locations for student accommodation which reduces the need to travel in areas that serve the needs 
of students and provide a stock of well-managed, secure and regulated environments that will 
minimise the impact on amenity on other households in residential neighbourhoods.  
 
8.7. The Policy seeks to prevent an over-supply of PBSA and/or an over-proliferation of PBSA 
leading to unbalanced communities and seeks to protect residential amenity and the supply of family 
homes. To do this, the policy applies a series of tests, which are set out below.  
 
1. The development meets an identified need for the type of accommodation proposed 
8.8. Two reports titled 'Statistics and Data - Student PBSA's' dated 15th May 24 and 'Response 
Report' dated July 24 have been submitted to address this criterion along with letters of support 
from the University of Plymouth and a local student lettings agency.  
 
8.9. The submitted information demonstrates an increase in student enrolment numbers within 
Plymouth from 2019/20 to 2022/23. In the latest monitoring point on the 31st March 2023, Council 
figures show the total full time student enrolment numbers for 2022/23 were 24,824 across the 3 
universities in Plymouth. As of the 31st March 2023, there were 7,197 PBSA bed spaces in the City 
with 556 bedspaces under construction, and planning permission (not started) for a further 270 
spaces. Comparing these numbers against student enrolment numbers, it is noted that at least 68% 
of students do not have access to PBSA.  It is noted that the Applicant's existing student 
accommodation supply is oversubscribed and has been fully let for the past 26 years. 
 
8.10. The submitted information shows an increase in students at the University of Plymouth 
choosing to live in private sector halls accommodation (43% increase in 2021/22 compared with 
2020/21) and states this is likely due to the advantages of PBSA including security, social interactions 
and on-site management.  
 

Page 37



 

 

8.11. This aligns with the views of Plymouth University Business Development Manager, Head of 
Facilities and a Home after Halls Student Lettings. They note that they are experiencing a higher 
proportion of students now selecting purpose-built student accommodation beyond their first year 
of study; a gradual migration of students from less suitable HMO houses in the City to purpose built 
student accommodation and a continual high demand for student accommodation more generally, 
which is expected to increase as Plymouth University enrolment numbers are predicted to grow in 
the coming years.  
 
8.12. The target market for this development is described as undergraduates, second, third and 
fourth year students as well as post graduates. A review of existing purpose-built developments has 
been provided, which highlights that existing PBSA developments in the local area primarily target 
either first year students or international students and that there are limited options for students to 
access higher quality, purpose-built accommodation beyond their first year. 
 
8.13. Officers acknowledge that an increase in student numbers coupled with a greater desire for 
students to be in purpose-built student accommodation puts pressure on the City's general housing 
stock.  
 
8.14. Officers note that the number of council tax exempt properties (wholly occupied by 
students) have continually fallen from 3,373 in April 2014 to 1,823 in April 2022. This suggests that 
as new purpose-built student accommodation is continuing to be planned and provided for, more 
homes that were previously occupied by students become available, providing more access to 
housing. This has a positive impact in meeting the City's housing needs.  
 
8.15. In line with Policies DEV12 and DEV11, Officers are encouraging the placement of students in 
purpose-built accommodation rather than in houses of multiple accommodation as the impact on 
residential communities is better mitigated through aspects such as enhanced security and on-site 
management. 
 
8.16. Overall, it is considered that sufficient evidence and justification has been provided to show 
that the development would meet the identified needs of students, in particular those beyond their 
first year.  
 
2. The development is in an appropriate location, which is easily accessible to university/college 
facilities by sustainable modes of transport. 
 
8.17. The application building is located a 4-minute walk from Plymouth University and a 7-minute 
walk from Plymouth College of Art. The building sits on North Hill, a key strategic route into the 
City where there are a number of bus links to the University of St Mark and St John (1A, 1, 42A/C) 
averaging around 36 minute travel time. The development is therefore considered to be in an 
appropriate location. 
 
3. The proposal does not result in an excessive concentration of student accommodation in one 
locality 
8.18. There are a number of PBSA and student bed spaces within the local area and this application 
will add to the concentration. These include (but not limited to) the Reservoir purpose-built student 
accommodation (74 bed) located on the opposite side of North Hill and developments within the 
University site including Mary Newman Halls (157 bed) of Residence and Francis Drake Hall (329 
bed). There are other student occupied properties in the area including Houses of Multiple 
Occupation.  
 

Page 38



 

 

8.19. There are currently no family dwellings immediately adjacent to the site. There are family 
dwellings located within Skardon Place, above commercial units at 46 - 54 North Hill and within 
Bedford Terrace and the surrounding streets.  
 
8.20. The proposal seeks to provide 16 student bedspaces which is not considered a significant 
increase in numbers, particularly when taking into consideration the North Hill location. Officers 
appreciate the number of student bed spaces is higher in this location compared to other areas of 
the City, but note that this is not uncommon in areas adjacent to Universities.   
 
8.21. Officers acknowledge that there is a high concentration of student accommodation but on 
balance, given the limited scale of development and separation to family dwellings, consider this 
would not warrant a refusal of the application on the grounds of excessive concentration, in line with 
criteria 3 of DEV12.   
 
4. The proposal does not result in a harmful loss of an existing use 
8.22. The application building was previously a bar with food provision (Use Class Sui Generis) and 
became vacant in 2019. The building gained planning permission in 2022 for its conversion to Offices 
(Use Class E) and whilst this consent has not been implemented, the permission remains capable of 
implementation until September 2025.   
 
8.23. The application building is not located within a designated centre. Therefore, it is not subject 
to local policy that safeguards the commercial use. Notwithstanding this, the application building is a 
double fronted commercial unit which, if occupied and in commercial use, would provide an active 
frontage and the continuity of the small commercial parade. This has been given weight when 
considering the proposed change of use. 
 
8.24. The site has been vacant since 2019. Marketing evidence provided by Listers Property 
Consultants dated 28th March 24, has been submitted which demonstrates the site has been 
effectively marketed for a substantial period of time and to date, no commercial deal has been 
forthcoming despite a good level of interest. The report notes the lack of demand for the space as a 
bar/restaurant comes as a result of (amongst other things) post-pandemic trading conditions, 
increasing utility costs and general inflation. With regard to alternative commercial uses under 
planning use Class E, the space is less desirable as it would likely require refurbishment, has 
challenges in terms of potential deliveries and would likely require high level capital expenditure. 
 
8.25. The building has been vacant for four years and Officers consider that bringing the building 
back into use is deemed a clear positive. The Council's Economic Development team accept the 
marketing evidence and raise no objection to the site's proposed change of use.  
 
8.26. With regard to an active frontage, the proposed ground floor provides a visually permeable 
elevation onto North Hill so that there is some level of natural surveillance of the street. The 
reception area will be clearly visible from outside of the property and the proposals provide full 
height glazing along the North Hill elevation with visual access to the entrance. Officers consider this 
would provide a sufficient level of activity at street level and would not lead to an inactive frontage.     
 
5. The layout, design and facilities provided within the development is of a high standard and meet 
identified student needs including adequate laundry provisions, communal space and social learning 
facilities 
8.27. The accommodation comprises of 16 good sized units measuring between 20 - 27sqm in size. 
This is comparable to other purpose-built student accommodation in the City. The student 
accommodation includes facilities such as a laundry room, cinema, games room and seating areas. 
The facilities are located at basement level, where natural daylight is limited, however this is 

Page 39



 

 

acceptable given the site constraints and the fact all living accommodation would receive adequate 
levels of natural daylight. 
 
8.28. There is no external amenity space proposed, albeit a small private courtyard to Unit 4, 
however it is acknowledged that the site is located within a densely developed urban area and 
Officers consider the absence of external amenity space is mitigated by the site's close proximity to 
Drake's Place (1 minute waking distance) and Addison Park (3 minutes walking distance).  
 
8.29. Information relating to noise has been provided which states the building will be designed to 
achieve the internal noise levels as set out within British Standard 8233:2014. This is accepted and it 
is recommended that this is conditioned.   
 
8.30. Overall, Officers consider the development would provide good quality living accommodation 
for students.  
 
6. The development does not conflict with adjacent uses or the general amenity of the surrounding 
area 
8.31. The application building sits within a row of commercial units which currently comprise of a 
barbers and a lettings agency. A convenience store is located to the north and other commercial and 
residential uses are within the surrounding area. It is considered that the proposed student 
accommodation would not conflict with these uses.  
 
7. Appropriate management plans are submitted ensuring that a positive and safe living environment 
is created for students and to minimise the potential negative impacts on the local community 
8.32. A management plan has been submitted with this application. This details:  
 
- Security systems that will be put in place, including high-definition CCTV system, video door-

entry systems for all studios and a regular presence on site by the management team and its 
maintenance staff.  

- A security plan which will serve students, visitors, team members or contractors and the 
local community will be put in place. It is recommended that Local Ward Councillors are also 
consulted on the security plan.  

- The management team comprising of property managers and co-ordinators located in an 
office 2 minutes from the application site plus two full time maintenance staff, on call 24 
hours a day via a dedicated mobile number which will be given to all tenants.  

- Collaboration with Student Minds and Safe Space Alliance, a charity and not for profit 
organisation which focus on student health and wellbeing.  

- Details on staff training, general support, building maintenance, cleaning, complaints, 
information sharing and monitoring of the security management plan. 

 
8.33. The Council's Designing out Crime Officer raises no objection to the submitted management 
plan and it is recommended that compliance with the plan and the proposed security measures as 
detailed within the design and access statement are conditioned. 
 
8.34. Officers consider that this management plan will minimise the potential negative impacts upon 
the surrounding area.  
 
8. Detailed arrivals plans are submitted ensuring that adequate facilities are in place to accommodate 
vehicular movements in particular at the start and end of terms 
8.35. The above mentioned management plan and the submitted travel plan covers the move 
in/move out process for students. There are two existing drop off spaces adjacent to the property 
and the move in dates for the 16 studios will be staggered. This is accepted by the Local Highway 
Authority.  

Page 40



 

 

 
9. All proposals are future proofed in terms of design to support potential alternative uses as 
appropriate. 
8.36. Layout options have been provided which demonstrate how the units could be reconfigured 
to create residential flats with ancillary facilities such as a gym at basement level. Officers are content 
the site could be capable of conversion to alternative residential uses without significant intervention. 
 
10. The levels of on street parking required can be reasonably accommodated or regulated through 
parking control measures 
8.37. The Local Highway Authority note the site is located within a sustainable area of the city 
within close proximity of the train station, bus stops and cycle routes. The site is adjacent to three 
controlled parking zones C, D and J and residents would not be eligible to obtain parking permits or 
visitor tickets for these zones. An informative has been added to alert the Applicant that if the zones 
were to be extended, the property would be excluded from obtaining parking permits or visitor 
tickets. This would limit the opportunity for overspill on-street parking in the area. For these 
reasons, the Highway Authority consider the site could be deemed car free. 
 
8.38. There are a number of public car parks within the locality for student, staff and contractor 
use.  
 
8.39. As noted above, there are two existing vehicle parking spaces adjacent to the building, within 
the Applicant's ownership that will be utilised for student drop off.  
 
11. There is adequate storage for recycling/refuse and cycles 
8.40. In line with the Plymouth and South West Devon SPD, 16 cycle spaces should be provided 
within the development. 16 cycles are proposed in a designated cycle store within the building. This 
is accepted by the Highway Authority.   
 
8.41. Four 2,200 litre bins (recycling and general waste) will be provided within appropriately 
designed external timber bin stores and this is accepted.   
 
8.42. Overall, Officers acknowledge the proposal would add to an existing high concentration of 
student accommodation in this area, but as noted above, there are mitigating factors in place. On 
balance, Officers consider the proposal acceptable and complies with Joint Local Plan policies SPT2 
and DEV12 and the Plymouth and South West Devon SPD.  
 
Design 
8.43. The site occupies a prominent position on North Hill, a key strategic route into the City 
Centre. Officers consider any proposed development must be of a high quality and positively 
respond to the site's context.  
 
8.44. The design of the building has positively evolved since pre-application stage. Officers note the 
proposed redevelopment of just a part of the commercial terrace is challenging, in terms of how to 
successfully integrate this into the streetscape. However, the latest building design incorporates a 
good level of modelling and interest, and its height is appropriate for the corner plot whilst not 
appearing overly dominant when viewed against the adjacent single storey commercial units.  
 
8.45. Officers have sought amendments to the southern flank wall and this now presents a greater 
degree of modelling and interest compared to previous designs, achieved through the use of 
contrasting materials and recessed panels, without prejudicing future development of the adjacent 
units.  
 

Page 41



 

 

8.46. Officers have requested additional windows/ recessed panels to the North Hill elevation, and 
these have been incorporated into the plans. Officers would wish to see the use of glass spandrel 
panels, with opaque dark ceramic backing plates which is considered a higher quality material. This 
could be dealt with through an appropriate materials condition.   
 
8.47. The proposal includes Rockpanel cladding, which can be supported at upper floors, but is 
strongly discouraged at ground floor, due to likely wear and tear/ impact damage from passers-by. 
The Applicant has amended the plans removing the rockpanel cladding on the North Hill fronting 
elevation, where there are high levels of footfall, and replacing it with Plymouth Limestone. This is 
strongly supported and provides a high-quality contextual material for this prominent position on 
North Hill.  
 
8.48. Officers have general concerns around the use of render on tall buildings within the City 
because of the issue of staining, which can be seen on other developments.  The proposal is to 
partially render the building. As it is three stories in height and the Applicant proposes a high silicone 
content render, Officers consider this to be acceptable. A maintenance plan is recommended to 
ensure the appearance of the material remains in good condition.    
 
8.49. There are currently a number of bins adjacent to the building within Bedford Terrace. The 
Applicant notes these bins are underutilised, given the site is currently vacant and proposes to create 
a timber external bin store with planting. Whilst an integral bin store would be preferable, the 
proposal is a clear improvement on the existing arrangement and can be supported.  
 
8.50. The historic Bedford Terrace development was constructed between 1840 to 1850 and No. 
9 Bedford Terrace is Grade II listed. A set of gate piers marks the entrance to Bedford Terrace and 
whilst not listed, the piers form an important historic feature. One of the piers is located to the 
north-west corner of the application building and the proposed plans show this is to be retained. 
Officers have therefore conditioned this. The second pier is not within the proposed site.     
 
8.51. Overall, the proposed design is considered to be of a high quality and addresses its corner 
location on this key road. The proposal complies with Joint Local Plan Policy DEV20.  
 
Drainage and Flooding 
8.52. The site is located in Flood Zone 1 and considered to be at a low risk from fluvial and tidal 
flooding. 
 
8.53. Surface water flood risk mapping indicates the site is at a low risk from a 1 in 100 year return 
period event. There is a surface water flow route west of the property within North Hill. 
Unmanaged surface water run off form this site therefore has the potential to increase surface water 
flooding downstream.  
 
8.54. The site is located in a Critical Drainage Area where the Environment Agency considers the 
existing drainage system to be at or close to capacity. 
 
8.55. There are no SWW surface water sewers in the vicinity of the site. There is a SWW 
combined sewer running through the site.  
 
8.56. A flood risk assessment has been submitted in relation to the proposal. The proposal does 
not seek to increase the impermeable area of the site and proposes a partial green roof which will 
provide some level of attenuation. Due to limitations posed by the dense urban area and the absence 
of ground infiltration possibilities or nearby water courses, consent has been secured from South 
West Water for the surface water to discharge into the combined sewer.  
 

Page 42



 

 

8.57. The Lead Local Flood Authority raise no objection but recommend a pre-commencement 
condition requiring details of the existing and proposed drainage strategy including the green roof. 
Details of management and maintenance should also be conditioned along with a construction 
environment management plan to demonstrate how the new drainage system and water 
environment is protected during the demolition and construction phase. 
 
8.58. With the addition of conditions as outlined above, the proposal complies with Policy DEV35 
of the Joint Local Plan.  
 
Climate Emergency 
8.59. An energy statement and climate emergency compliance form has been submitted in relation 
to the application which demonstrates the building will achieve a 27% reduction in carbon emissions 
relative to Building Regulations Part L 2013. The submitted climate emergency form and proposed 
plans show the development will incorporate an air source heat pump and solar PV panels. Battery 
storage will also be provided within the building. The proposal seeks to reuse the existing building, 
which is positive in terms of carbon emissions. Officers are content the application complies with 
Policy DEV32 of the Joint Local Plan and will contribute to the City's climate emergency initiatives. 
Conditions securing the implementation of the renewable energy methods and submission of 'As 
built' SAP assessments are recommended.  
 
Contaminated Land 
8.60. A Landmark environmental report has been submitted which identified contamination is 
unlikely and no further action is required. The Council's Public Protection team raise no objection to 
this.  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
8.61. This application was submitted after the national biodiversity net gain requirement came into 
effect for minor development. However, as the site does not contain any priority habitat and/or less 
than 25sqm of other habitat, the development is considered 'de minimis' and is therefore exempt 
from the requirement.  
 
8.62. Notwithstanding this, Officers encourage a biodiversity net gain and enhancements, which is 
an aim of Joint Local Plan Policy DEV26. Policy DEV23 seeks to secure landscape character and visual 
enhancements.  
 
8.63. The development includes the creation of an 80sqm sedum (green) roof and the installation 
of planters (Buxus sempervirens hedging) at street level.  On the western elevation of the building, 
bat and bird boxes will be installed along with bee bricks.  
 
8.64. Officers welcome the ecology enhancements which will provide a positive biodiversity gain 
when compared with the existing site. Natural Infrastructure Officers have reviewed the proposed 
planting species for the sedum room and consider these suitable for the coastal environment. Full 
landscaping details and a landscape and environmental management plan should be conditioned to 
secure implementation. The proposal complies with Policies DEV26 and DEV23 of the Joint Local 
Plan.  
 
HRA 
8.65. The site underwent a Habitats Regulation Assessment by the Natural Infrastructure Team, 
which concluded that the application would have significant effect, without any avoidance or 
mitigation measures, on European and Internationally Protected sites. However, the effects are 
within those detailed in the Tamar Estuaries Management Plan and the Yealm Estuary Environment 
Management Plan and there is no significant impact on the protected sites. 
 

Page 43



 

 

9. Human Rights 
Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights 
Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives 
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this 
recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and 
expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as 
expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 
 
10. Local Finance Considerations 
The development will be CIL liable. 
 
11. Planning Obligations 
The purpose of planning obligations is to mitigate or compensate for adverse impacts of a 
development, or to prescribe or secure something that is needed to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms.  Planning obligations can only lawfully constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission where the three statutory tests of Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations 2010 
are met. 
 
Planning obligations have not been requested to mitigate the impact of development.  
 
12. Equalities and Diversities 
This planning application has had due regard to Section 149 of the Equality Act with regard to the 
Public Sector Equality Duty. Officers consider that this application will not cause discrimination based 
on gender, age or disability. 
 
13. Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 
Officers acknowledge that the proposal would add to an existing high concentration of student 
accommodation in this area. However, whilst there is some conflict with criteria 3 of Policy DEV12, 
there are mitigating factors and the proposal complies with all other aspects of DEV12. Officers have 
taken account of the NPPF and S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and 
concluded that the proposal would contribute to the City's housing supply through the provision of a 
16-bed purpose-built student accommodation. The proposal accords with the Joint Local Plan, 
Plymouth and South West Devon SPD and the National Planning Policy Framework and is therefore 
recommended for conditional approval. 

 

14. Recommendation 

In respect of the application dated 20.05.2024 it is recommended to Grant Conditionally. 

 

15. Conditions / Reasons 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans:  

  
1 CONDITION: APPROVED PLANS 

  
   Site Location Plan and Block Plan 9007-DR-A-X-1000 Rev A  received 19/07/24 
   Proposed Floor Plans Ground Floor Level 9007-DR-A-GF-1002   received 20/05/24 
   Proposed Floor Plans First and Second Floor Levels 9007-DR-A-X-1003   received 20/05/24 
   Proposed Floor Plans Roof Level 9007-DR-A-X-1004 Rev A  received 20/05/24 
   Proposed Sections Section 1 9007-DR-A-X-1008   received 20/05/24 
   Proposed Sections Section 2 9007-DR-A-X-1009   received 20/05/24 
   Side Elevation 20052024   received 20/05/24 

Page 44



 

 

   Site Location Plan and Site Block Plan 9007-DR-A-X-1000 Rev C  received 27/08/24 
   Proposed Elevations. Front Elevation 9007-DR-A-X-1005 Rev B  received 27/08/24 
   Proposed Elevations. Side Elevation 9007-DR-A-X-1006 Rev B  received 27/08/24 
   Bin Store Details 9007-DR-A-X-1012   received 27/08/24 
   Proposed Elevations Side Elevation 2 9007-DR-A-X-1007 Rev A  received 18/07/24 
   Proposed Floor Plans Basement Level 9007-DR-A-B-1001 Rev A  received 18/07/24 
    
Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of good planning, in accordance with the Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014–2034 (2019). 
 
 
 2 CONDITION: COMMENCE WITHIN 3 YEARS 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years beginning 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: 
To comply with Section 51 of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 3 CONDITION: PROVISION OF DRAINAGE WORKS 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
No development shall take place until details of the existing and proposed surface water drainage 
system, including a full specification of the sedum roof, have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The sedum roof shall be installed prior to occupation of any 
part of the building.  
 
Details should be submitted of how and when the system is to be managed and maintained, and any 
future adoption proposals should be submitted. 
 
A construction environment management plan incorporating method statements should be 
submitted to demonstrate how the new drainage system and water environment is protected during 
the demolition and construction phase. 
 
Reason: 
To reduce the risk of flooding to and from the development, and minimise the risk of pollution of 
surface water by ensuring the provision of satisfactory surface water management in accordance with 
Policies DEV2 and DEV35 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Justification: Necessary because of the essential need to ensure the drainage provisions within the 
development are adequately provided for before development. 
 
 4 CONDITION: CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
The development works hereby proposed shall not commence until there has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a Construction Traffic Management Plan 
(CTMP). The said CTMP shall be submitted prior to the commencement of the development works 
and shall include details relating to the detailed programme of works, details of construction vehicle 

Page 45



 

 

movements including number, type and size of vehicles; construction operation hours; routes being 
used by construction vehicles and contractors parking arrangements. The development works 
hereby proposed shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved CTMP.  
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the traffic impacts associated with the construction phase of the works does not lead 
to adverse impacts upon the operation of the Local Road Network in accordance with Policy DEV29 
of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 
 
Justification: Necessary to ensure traffic impacts associated with the construction works are 
managed. 
 
 5 CONDITION: HIGHWAY DILAPIDATION SURVEY 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
No works shall commence on-site until the applicant has undertaken a highway dilapidation survey in 
consultation with the Local Highway Authority. The survey shall assess the existing condition of all 
highway infrastructure adjoining the site which will be impacted upon through the construction 
activities associated with the development hereby approved. This shall also include routes to and 
from the site being used by construction traffic.  
 
Reason: 
To ensure that any damage to the existing highway infrastructure arising from the construction of 
the proposed development is properly recorded and addressed by the developer on completion of 
the works in the interests of the safety of all users of the highway in accordance with Policy DEV29 
of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan. 
 
Justification: To ensure the condition of the road is adequately recorded prior to the demolition 
phase and construction of the development. 
 
 6 CONDITION: LANDSCAPE DESIGN PROPOSALS 
 
PRE-DAMP PROOF COURSE (DPC) 
 
No development shall take place beyond damp proof course until details of the landscape works 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The landscape works 
shall accord with the following approved drawings and reports:  
- Ecology Plan, dated 3rd April 24 
- Proposed Floor Plans 9007-DR-A-GF-1002 and 9007-DR-A-X-1004 Rev A   
 
The landscape works shall include:  
i. Soft landscape details:  
a. Full soft landscape specification; plant species and size (to HTA standards), soil/roof build-up 
details, planting spec and establishment care.  
b. The arrangement of proposed soft landscape elements and soil layouts/elevations (min 1:200 
scale). Plans should include a planting schedule for reference.  
 
All landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be 
carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development. Any dead or defective planting 
shall be replaced with a period of 5 years.  
 
 

Page 46



 

 

Reason: 
To ensure that satisfactory landscaping works are carried out in accordance with Policies DEV20 and 
DEV23 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and Paragraph 130, 131 & 134 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 7 CONDITION: LANDSCAPE AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
PRE-DPC 
 
No development shall take place beyond damp proof course until a Landscape and Environmental 
Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
The content of the LEMP shall include the following;  
 
i. Description and evaluation of features to be managed, including extent of proposed works shown 
on appropriate scale maps and plans. 
 ii. Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.  
iii. Aims and objectives of management for both the landscape elements and the biodiversity features.  
iv. Set out maintenance operations for the first year following implementation of the scheme and for 
a further 4 years following establishment for achieving aims and objectives.  
v. Preparation of a work schedule, demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed phasing 
of construction.  
vi. Body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan. vii. Monitoring and remedial 
measures, which should liaise with long-term maintenance initiatives.  
 
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long term 
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(s) 
responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial 
action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully 
functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of biological 
interest and to ensure that satisfactory landscaping works are carried out, in accordance with 
Policies SPT12, DEV20, DEV23 & DEV26 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 8 CONDITION: EXTERNAL MATERIALS 
 
PRE-DPC 
 
Notwithstanding the approved elevation plans, development shall not proceed past damp proof 
course, until details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the materials used are in keeping with the character of the area in accordance with 
Policy DEV20 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

Page 47



 

 

 
 9 CONDITION: MAINTENANCE SCHEDULE 
 
PRE-DPC 
 
Development shall not proceed past damp proof course until a Maintenance Schedule for the 
exterior of the building has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The said Maintenance Schedule will provide details relating to how all external materials 
shall be maintained in a good, clean condition and appearance for the building's lifetime and how any 
problems with corrosion, discolouration, weathering, or other defects will be rectified promptly. 
Once approved, the building shall be operated in accordance with the approved schedule. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the appearance of the building remains satisfactory throughout its lifetime and that 
the building is in keeping with the standards of the vicinity in accordance with policies DEV20 and 
DEV21 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
10 CONDITION: ECOLOGICAL MITIGATION 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, plans for the specification and locations of 
bird and bat boxes and bee bricks within the fabric of the building shall be submitted and approved in 
writing to the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.   
 
Reason: 
In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of biological 
interest in accordance with Policy DEV26 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
11 CONDITION: CYCLE PROVISION 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
The residential accommodation hereby approved shall not be occupied until space has been laid out 
within the site in accordance with the approved plan (9007-DR-A-GF-1002) for 16 bicycles to be 
securely parked. The secure area for storing bicycles shown on the approved plan shall remain 
available for its intended purpose and shall not be used for any other purpose without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
In order to promote cycling as an alternative to the use of private cars in accordance with Policy 
DEV29 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
12 CONDITION: TRAVEL PLAN 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
The residential accommodation hereby permitted shall be occupied and managed in accordance with 
the submitted Travel Plan (dated July 2024).  

Page 48



 

 

 
Reason: 
The Local Planning Authority considers that such measures need to be taken in order to reduce 
reliance on the use of private cars (particularly single occupancy journeys) and to assist in the 
promotion of more sustainable travel choices in accordance with Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth and 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
13 CONDITION: AS-BUILT SAP ASSESSMENT 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, an as-built SAP Assessment shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates that the 
scheme has achieved regulated carbon emissions levels of 20% less than that required by Building 
Regulations Part L. 
 
Air source heat pumps, battery storage and solar PV panels shall be provided for within the 
development in accordance with the submitted details and approved plans and thereafter be 
retained.  
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the scheme provides sustainable and low carbon development in line with policy 
DEV32 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and the Plymouth and South West 
Devon Climate Emergency Planning Statement (2022). 
 
14 CONDITION: MANAGE STUDENT ACCOMMODATION 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
The security measures as detailed within the Design and Access statement (dated May 2024) shall be 
implemented prior to first occupation of the building.  
 
The property shall be managed in accordance with the Student Management Plan dated 1st July 2024 
unless an alternate management plan is agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
Consultation with Local Ward Members shall be carried out prior to implementation of the security 
plan.  
 
The management plan shall be adhered to strictly at all times.  
 
Reason: 
In the interests of resident's safety, neighbours' amenities and to provide a ready point of contact for 
any person who needs to address an issue in relation to the use of the property, in accordance with 
Policies DEV2 and DEV10 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
15 CONDITION: DROP-OFF CAR PARKING PROVISION 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
The building shall not be occupied until the drop off space shown on the approved plans has been 
brought into use in accordance with the approved details and details regarding the management and 
enforcement measures for the drop-off spaces have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 49



 

 

 
That area shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles.  
 
Reason: 
To enable vehicles used by occupiers or visitors to be parked off the public highway so as to avoid 
damage to amenity and interference with the free flow of traffic on the highway in accordance with 
Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan. 
 
16 CONDITION: BIN STORAGE 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the bin storage area shown on the 
approved plan (9007-DR-A-X-1012) has been made available for use. The bin storage area shown on 
the approved plan shall remain available for its intended purpose and shall not be used for any other 
purpose without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority. Waste and recycling bins shall be 
stored in this area at all times except for collection day. 
 
Reason: 
To prevent street clutter and polluting effects from refuse storage in accordance with Policies DEV1, 
DEV2 and DEV31 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
17 CONDITION: STUDENT BEDROOMS 
 
No more than 16 student rooms at the property shall be used as bedrooms. The Local Planning 
Authority must give written approval to any variation of this requirement. 
 
Reason: 
The proposed layout, together with the use of the remaining rooms for communal facilities has been 
assessed and considered acceptable in planning terms and any other arrangement would need to be 
assessed on its merits. This condition is in accordance with Policies DEV10 and DEV12 of the 
Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
18 CONDITION: GATE PIER 
 
The development hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the approved elevation 
plans (9007-DR-A-X-1005 Rev B and 9007-DR-A-X-1006 Rev B). The gate pier to the north west 
corner of the application building is to be retained at all times.   
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the non-designated heritage asset is retained, in accordance with Policy DEV21 of the 
Joint Local Plan and South West Devon Joint Local Plan. 
 
19 CONDITION: HOURS OF CONSTRUCTION 
 
Demolition or construction works shall not take place outside 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays 
to Fridays and 08:30 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays 
 
Reason: 
To protect the residential and general amenity of the area from noise emanating from the business 
and avoid conflict with Policies DEV1  and DEV2  of the Plymouth and Southwest Devon Joint Local 
Plan. 

Page 50



 

 

 
20 CONDITION: NOISE 
 
The development shall be constructed in accordance with BS8233:2014 so as to provide sound 
insulation against externally generated noise. The good room criteria shall be applied, meaning there 
must be no more than 35 dB LAeq for living rooms (07:00 to 23:00 daytime) and 30 dB LAeq for 
bedrooms (23:00 to 07:00 night-time), with windows shut and other means of ventilation provided. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the student accommodation hereby permitted achieves a satisfactory living standard 
and do not experience unacceptable levels of noise disturbance to avoid conflict with Policies DEV1 
and DEV2 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan and Section 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
21 CONDITION: STUDENT USE 
 
The units of residential accommodation within the buildings shall only be occupied by students in full-
time education , by a warden (who may not be in full-time education), by student delegates attending 
university conferences or courses during vacation periods (No such delegate shall occupy the 
premises for more than four weeks in any calendar year), or any registered student of any college or 
university , provided that the student is studying a for a qualification at Higher Education level on a 
course that satisfies the criteria on eligibility for council tax exemption for student occupation of 
premises that is in force at the date of this planning permission, or any future such criteria as apply 
from time to time and for no other purpose. If any occupation is required not in-line with the above, 
a written request detailing the type  and duration of the occupation required and justification for it 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing prior to said occupation taking place.  The occupation 
shall then accord with the approved request. 
 
Reason: 
The proposed development has been designed for the specific use as student accommodation. It is 
not suited to other residential uses without substantial alterations given the limited internal space 
per unit to comply with policies DEV10 and DEV12 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint 
Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 
INFORMATIVES 

 
 
1 INFORMATIVE: (CIL LIABLE) DEVELOPMENT LIABLE FOR COMMUNITY 

INFRASTRUCTURE CONTRIBUTION 
 
The Local Planning Authority has assessed that this development will attract an obligation to pay a 
financial levy under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).  Details of 
the process can be found on our website at www.plymouth.gov.uk/CIL.  You can contact the Local 
Planning Authority at any point to discuss your liability calculation; however a formal Liability 
Notice will only be issued by the Local Planning Authority once "planning permission first permits 
development" as defined by the CIL Regulations.  You must ensure that you submit any relevant 
forms and get any pre-commencement details agreed before commencing work.  Failure to do so 
may result in surcharges or enforcement action. 
 
Further information on CIL can be found on our website here: 
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningapplications/communityinfrastructur
elevy  

Page 51



 

 

 
More information and CIL Forms can be accessed via the Planning Portal: 
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200126/applications/70/community_infrastructure_levy/5  
 
More detailed information on CIL including process flow charts, published by the Ministry of 
Housing, Local Communities and Government can also be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy  
 
 2 INFORMATIVE: RESIDENT PARKING PERMIT 
 
The development has been assessed as 'car free' development. To ensure that the development 
remains car free the occupiers of the property shall be exempt from obtaining any parking permits 
should the site be included in any new or expanded Controlled Parking Zones in the future. 
 
 3 INFORMATIVE: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL (NEGOTIATION) 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Article 31 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the Council has worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant including 
pre-application discussions and has negotiated amendments to the application to enable the grant of 
planning permission. 
 

Page 52



Planning Applications Determined Since Last Committee
Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

20/08/2024 24/00674/TCO Mrs Bluett Acer (T1) - Re-pollard to previous points to 
continue established pruning method.

1 Fernleigh Road Plymouth PL3 
5AN 

Alan RoweApproved

20/08/2024 24/00699/TCO Mr Berryman Salix Caprea (T1) - Fell to ground level - Tree 
not suitable for long-term retention; 
originally planted without consideration for 
its future viability, it's leading to regular 
complaints from adjacent boatyard and 
property, and PCH feel It?s removal will 
improve the growing conditions for the 
adjacent young Sycamore

6A Stonehall Flats Plymouth PL1 
3QZ 

Alan RoweApproved

20/08/2024 24/00637/CDM Mark Lovell Condition Discharge: Condition 10 
(Construction Traffic Management Plan) of 
application 23/01622/FUL

Plymouth Albion Rugby Club 
Brickfields Sports Centre 80 
Madden Road Plymouth PL1 4NE 

Mr Daniel ThorningAgreed Condition 
Details

20/08/2024 24/00776/FUL Mr & Mrs Freeman Proposed single storey rear extension, 
extension to rear dormer and window 
alterations

6 Coltness Road Plymouth PL9 8HA Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

20/08/2024 24/00815/ADV Mr Richard Wilson Proposed free-standing advertising council 
information panel featuring 2no internally 
illuminated digital displays, digital displays to 
portray static images that change every 10 
seconds.

Pavement North-East Of 147 
Armada Way Plymouth PL1 1HX

Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

20/08/2024 24/00816/ADV Mr Richard Wilson Proposed free-standing advertising council 
information panel featuring 2no internally 
illuminated digital displays, digital displays to 
portray static images that change every 10 
seconds.

Pavement South-West Of 152 - 154 
Armada Way Plymouth PL1 1LB

Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

10 September 2024 Page 1 of 11

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 7



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

20/08/2024 24/00817/ADV Mr Richard Wilson Proposed free-standing advertising council 
information panel featuring 2no internally 
illuminated digital displays, digital displays to 
portray static images that change every 10 
seconds.

Pavement Outside 122 - 124 
Armada Way Plymouth PL1 1LA

Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

20/08/2024 24/00818/ADV Mr Richard Wilson Proposed free-standing advertising council 
information panel featuring 2no internally 
illuminated digital displays, digital displays to 
portray static images that change every 10 
seconds.

Pavement Outside 125 Armada 
Way Plymouth PL1 1RR

Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

20/08/2024 24/00820/ADV Mr Richard Wilson Proposed free-standing advertising council 
information panel featuring 2no internally 
illuminated digital displays, digital displays to 
portray static images that change every 10 
seconds.

Pavement Outside 101 Armada 
Way Plymouth PL1 1HH

Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

20/08/2024 24/00821/ADV Mr Richard Wilson Proposed free-standing advertising council 
information panel featuring 2no internally 
illuminated digital displays, digital displays to 
portray static images that change every 10 
seconds.

Pavement Outside 100-120 
Armada Way Plymouth PL1 1HH

Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

20/08/2024 24/00826/ADV ADC Kimberley 
(Derriford) Limited & 
Plymouth City Council

Erection of 3no. totem signs for new district 
centre, with tenant signage for each unit 
displayed.

Land At Former Seaton Army 
Barracks Parade Ground  William 
Prance Road Derriford Plymouth 
PL6 5ZD 

Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

20/08/2024 24/00854/TPO Mr Bob Whear Sweet Chestnut (T1) - Require a 5 day notice 
to fell tree completely, in danger of 
immediate failure. Replant a new tree near to 
the one being removed.

1 Blue Haze Close Plymouth PL6 
7HR 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

20/08/2024 24/00857/TPO Mr Bob Whear Ash (T1) - Remove dead tree to within 1m of 
ground level. Beech (T2) - Remove/fell tree 
due to basal rot.

1 Blue Haze Close Plymouth PL6 
7HR 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

10 September 2024 Page 2 of 11

P
age 54



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

20/08/2024 24/00902/TPO Mr Newman Maple (T1) Fell. 11 Glenfield Close Glenholt Park 
Glenfield Road Plymouth PL6 7NT 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

20/08/2024 24/00903/TPO Newman T1 Thuja- remove dead tree 12 Sycamore Way Glenholt Park 
Glenfield Road Plymouth PL6 7NQ 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

20/08/2024 24/00907/TPO Mr Ian Wallace T1 Sycamore- Fell,   T2 Ash- Fell suffering 
from ADB,  T3 Cypress- Fell, G1 Ash- Coppice

1 Woodlands Lane Plymouth PL6 
8AS 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

21/08/2024 22/00994/ADV Mr Christian 
Constantine

Internally illuminated pylon sign & new 8m 
flag pole and flag

Unit 6, 187 Plymbridge Road 
Plymouth PL6 7JT 

Mr Simon OsborneAdvertisement Split 
Decision

21/08/2024 24/00890/CDMLB Mr George Williams Condition Discharge: Condition 
3 (Replacement Windows) and Condition 4 
(Hanging Slate) of Listed Building Consent 
reference 23/00915/LBC

3 Friars Lane Plymouth PL1 2LH Helen BlacklockAgreed Condition 
Details

21/08/2024 24/00671/LBC Glen Crust Proposed external repairs and redecoration 
works

8 Looe Street Plymouth PL4 0DY Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

21/08/2024 24/00765/LBC Mr Rupert Lloyd Alteration and extension to rear garage 16 Caroline Place Plymouth PL1 
3PS 

Mr Sam LewisGrant Conditionally

21/08/2024 24/00779/ADV Regus Group Limited 1no fascia sign and 2no post signs 15 William Prance Road Plymouth 
PL6 5ZD 

Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

10 September 2024 Page 3 of 11

P
age 55



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

21/08/2024 24/00838/FUL Mr Thomas Fabian Installation of pick-up prescription collection 
machine to shopfront

Pharmacy, 20 Bishops Place West 
Hoe Road Plymouth PL1 3BW 

Mr Sam LewisGrant Conditionally

21/08/2024 24/00839/ADV Mr Thomas Fabian Shopfront signage associated with pick-up 
prescription collection machine

Pharmacy, 20 Bishops Place West 
Hoe Road Plymouth PL1 3BW 

Mr Sam LewisGrant Conditionally

21/08/2024 24/00880/FUL Dr Eimear Blunnie Replacement of concrete steps with steel 
equivalents and replacement lintel

Flat C, 18 Wilderness Road 
Plymouth PL3 4RN 

Ethan BellGrant Conditionally

21/08/2024 24/00905/FUL Mr Steve Preston Single storey rear extension 24 Wall Street Plymouth PL1 4FA Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

21/08/2024 24/00909/FUL Mr Kristian Goulding-
Leach

Single storey rear extension on raised decking 6 Lawson Grove Plymouth PL9 7QJ Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

22/08/2024 24/00926/CDM Mr Russell Toghill Condition Discharge: Condition 5 
(Contaminated Land) of application 
20/00253/FUL

Site Of Former E Block, The 
Quadrangle,  Craigie Drive The 
Millfields Stonehouse Plymouth

Miss Amy ThompsonAgreed Condition 
Details

22/08/2024 24/00947/CDM ADC Kimberley 
(Derriford) Limited & 
Plymouth City Council

Discharge of Condition 10 and 16 of 
22/02127/S73

Land North Of Former Seaton 
Barracks Parade Ground & South 
Of Derriford Business Park 
Derriford Plymouth 

Mr Alistair WagstaffAgreed Condition 
Details

22/08/2024 24/01006/CDM Devonport Royal 
Dockyard Limited

Condition Discharge: Condition 3 (Solar PV 
Panels) of application 23/00751/S73

Devonport Dockyard Saltash Road 
Keyham Plymouth PL1 4SG 

Mr Simon OsborneAgreed Condition 
Details

10 September 2024 Page 4 of 11

P
age 56



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

22/08/2024 24/00713/AMD Clarion Housing 
Association Limited

Non-material Amendment: Plots 1-8, 17-41, 
47-56 & 75-127 (96 units) amended from 
Affordable Rent to Social Rent for application 
22/00878/FUL 

Land At Poole Park Road, Savage 
Road, Roberts Road & Roope Close 
Plymouth  

Mr Simon OsborneNon-material Minor 
Amendment Agreed

22/08/2024 24/00742/LBC Dr Richard Johnston Maintenance and repairs to boundary wall 96 Durnford Street Plymouth PL1 
3QW 

Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

22/08/2024 24/00835/FUL Mr Paul Pound 5th Floor Works to Cunningham Fraser 
Building (HMS Drake).

HMS Drake, Saltash Road Keyham 
Plymouth PL2 2DQ 

Mr Macauley PotterGrant Conditionally

27/08/2024 24/00631/CDM Plymouth City Council Condition Discharge: Conditions 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 
9, 10, 11 & 12 of application 23/00709/FUL

Tinside Pool Hoe Road Plymouth 
PL1 3DE 

Miss Amy ThompsonAgreed Condition 
Details

27/08/2024 24/00654/AMD Plymouth City Council Non-material Amendment: Refinement of 
approved plans, minor change to description 
of development and amended trigger point 
for conditions 9, 10 and 11 to allow lawful 
commencement on site for application 
23/00709/FUL

Tinside Pool Hoe Road Plymouth 
PL1 3DE 

Miss Amy ThompsonNon-material Minor 
Amendment Agreed

27/08/2024 24/00340/LBC F & G Bettison And O 
& S Bettison

Removal of fire escape staircase to create 
2no. balconies and replacement doors to east 
facing elevation

Gordon Court, 4 Craigie Drive 
Plymouth PL1 3JB 

Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

27/08/2024 24/00667/FUL Dave Lancaster Removal of hedge, replacement wall and 
alluminium gates, creation of hardstand

1 Long Rowden Plymouth PL3 4PL Natasha BatorijsGrant Conditionally

28/08/2024 24/00350/FUL Mr & Mrs Sawle Hip to gable roof, with loft conversion and 
raised ridge, rear dormer, and ground floor 
rear extension with balcony

121 Staddiscombe Road Plymouth 
PL9 9LT 

Natasha BatorijsGrant Conditionally

10 September 2024 Page 5 of 11

P
age 57



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

28/08/2024 24/00540/FUL Mr Geoff Easson Rear terrace on existing first floor flat roof 
and replacement of window with door to 
create access (part-retrospective)

Flat 2, 175 Outland Road Plymouth 
PL2 3PY 

Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

28/08/2024 24/00843/FUL Mr Sam Price Change of use from 7-bed HMO (Sui Generis) 
to 10-bed HMO (Sui Generis) plus rear decking

4 Evelyn Place Plymouth PL4 6HL Mr Sam LewisGrant Conditionally

28/08/2024 24/00874/S73 Aspire Student Living 
(2) Limited

Variation of Conditions 1 (Approved Plans) & 
4 (Low Carbon Mitigation Measures) of 
application 23/01274/FUL to remove rooftop 
solar PV

170 - 174  Armada Way Plymouth 
PL1 1LB 

Mr Sam LewisGrant Conditionally

29/08/2024 24/00546/FUL Mrs Annie field Loft conversion with 2no skylights to the 
front elevation and a rear full length dormer

70 Crossway Plymouth PL7 4HY Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

29/08/2024 24/00750/FUL Mr & Mrs Jinks Hip to gable roof, rear dormer and cedral 
cladding to loft conversion

98 Merrivale Road Beacon Park 
Plymouth PL2 2RP 

Natasha BatorijsGrant Conditionally

29/08/2024 24/00931/FUL Mrs Elaine Hill Rear balcony 214 Outland Road Plymouth PL2 
3PE 

Ethan BellGrant Conditionally

30/08/2024 24/00745/TCO Mr Henry Emery Sweet Chestnut - Pollard the tree to the 
maximum extent possible to substantially 
reduce the crown height and width.

15 Whiteford Road Plymouth PL3 
5LU 

Alan RoweApproved

30/08/2024 24/00868/TCO Mr John Cook Lime (T1) - Crown reduction back to previous 
reduction, about 3m reduction to top and 
approx 1m to sides. Norway Maple (T2) - 
Crown reduction all over of about 1-1.5 
metres, the tree surgeon estimates this to be 
about a 10-15% reduction.

2 Penlee Way Plymouth PL3 4AW Alan RoweApproved

10 September 2024 Page 6 of 11

P
age 58



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

30/08/2024 24/00892/TCO Mr Ben Trevaskus I want to trim back a tree that is overhanging 
into my garden. I want to cut back to the 
boundary wall and am asking permission as it 
is in a conservation area.

2-4 Royal William Road Plymouth 
PL1 3RQ 

Alan RoweApproved

30/08/2024 24/00896/TCO Mrs Hickling T1 - Acer - Reduce lateral growth on all sides 
by 0.5m leaving the tree standing at 2.5m. 
T2 - Cypress - Reduce lateral growth on 
western canopy only back to boundary line 
and reduce in height by 1m leaving the tree 
standing at 4m.

46 Thorn Park Plymouth PL3 4TF Alan RoweApproved

30/08/2024 24/00922/TCO Mrs Ingrid Van Der 
Schouw

Removal of 1 no dead Fir tree The Old School Rock Hill Plymouth 
PL5 4NY 

Alan RoweApproved

30/08/2024 24/00937/TCO Sam Nicholson Group of mixed species trees - Crown lift up 
to approximately 5.2m from ground level

Fitzroy Road Plymouth PL1 5PP Alan RoweApproved

30/08/2024 24/00952/TCO Mr Shane Morrison Elder - Fell  Sycamore - Cut back to give 2m 
minimum clearance to building Ivy - Clear 
from wall  Area 2  Goat Willows - Cut back to 
give 2m minimum clearance to building line  
Area 3  Ivy - Cut back overhang on wall to 
give 2m minimum clearance to building. Cut 
back small shrubs, as required

6, 9 & 19 Stonehall Flats Plymouth 
PL1 3QZ 

Alan RoweApproved

30/08/2024 24/00705/TPO Mr Daniel Hunt Maple (T1) - Prune back to boundary line and 
crown lift to maintain highway clearances.  
G1 -Trim new growth back to previous 
pruning points. G3 - Prune/trim overhang 
back to boundary wall to aid highway 
clearances on Cobb Lane.

109A Church Road Plymstock 
Plymouth PL9 9AX 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

30/08/2024 24/00752/TPO Mrs Wood Small Woodland (G1) - Fell all laurel, fell 3x 
dead standing Ash trees. Holm Oak 
Hedgerow (G2) - Reduce lateral growth to 
boundary line to clear street light and 
footpath.

21 Lopwell Close Plymouth PL6 
5BP 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

10 September 2024 Page 7 of 11

P
age 59



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

30/08/2024 24/00762/TPO Mr Alisdair Carpenter Oak - Reduce 2 limbs to 4m. 5 Little Fancy Close Plymouth PL6 
7DR 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

30/08/2024 24/00770/TPO Mr Alan Pearson Fell 5 Leylandii trees. 131A Looseleigh Lane Plymouth 
PL6 5HW 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

30/08/2024 24/00801/TPO Mr Shane Lethbridge Ash (T1) - Fell. Ash (T2) - Fell. Cedar - Crown 
raise to 3m from ground. Ash & Sycamore - 
Fell. Hedge - Crown reduce.

260 Fort Austin Avenue Plymouth 
PL6 5SS 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

30/08/2024 24/00889/TPO Richard Prowse Prunus tree - Fell 19 Cameron Way Plymouth PL6 
5WB 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

30/08/2024 24/00897/TPO Hynam G1 - Group of 5 Ash - Fell to ground level due 
to severe signs of ash dieback. G2 - Group of 
2 Dead birch - Fell to ground level.

8A Portway Close Plymouth PL9 
8BA 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

30/08/2024 24/00928/TPO Mrs Pampha Khadka Scots Pine - Fell 26 St Boniface Drive Plymouth PL2 
3QW 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

30/08/2024 24/00935/TPO Mr Richard Hall T1 Ash - Re-pollard to previous points 
removing approximately 3 years growth 3m 
leaving tree with approximate crown height 
of 6-7m and spread of 7-8m.

18 Periwinkle Drive Plymouth PL7 
2WR 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

30/08/2024 24/00360/FUL Kwik Fit (GB) Limited Change of use of a car showroom and 
workshop (Sui Generis) to garage and MOT 
centre (Use Class B2) and external alterations 
including single storey rear extensions

182 Billacombe Road Plymouth PL9 
7HE 

Ms Abbey EdwardsRefuse

10 September 2024 Page 8 of 11

P
age 60



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

30/08/2024 24/00786/FUL Mr Angelos Sanders Creation of additional flat in rear tenement, 
plus provision of communal bike/bin storage

92 Lipson Road Plymouth PL4 8RJ Mr Sam LewisRefuse

02/09/2024 24/00135/CDM Mr Jeremy Rendle Condition Discharge: Conditions 6, 7 , 9, 10, 
11 & 12 of application 21/00326/OUT

2 Borrowdale Close Plymouth PL6 
5BN 

Mr Jon FoxAgreed Condition 
Details

02/09/2024 24/00625/CDM Mr A Cotterell Condition Discharge: Conditions 3 
(Construction Methodology), 4 (Mortar), 5 
(Contamination), 6 (Surface Water Drainage), 
7 (Window and Door Arches/Surrounds) & 8 
(Further Details) of application 21/01761/FUL

1 - 2 Highland Cottages  47 New 
Street Plymouth PL1 2ND   

Mr Sam LewisAgreed Condition 
Details

02/09/2024 24/00842/FUL Mr D Aldworth Two-storey rear extensions and porches to 
both properties, and a side garage to no.21

21 And 23 St Marys Road Plymouth 
PL7 4PT

Cody BeavanGrant Conditionally

02/09/2024 24/00884/FUL Sam Porteous Internal alterations including ancillary 
reception, office and training space with 
associated new window and door openings; 
provision of PV panels, bin and cycle storage, 
covered electric vehicle charging point and 
energy storage.

37 Estover Close Plymouth PL6 7PL Mr Jon FoxGrant Conditionally

03/09/2024 24/00901/LBC Mr Jaswinder Dhariwal First floor rear extension, rear bike store, 
additional door and layout alterations to 
facilitate conversion to 3no. flats

31 North Road East Plymouth PL4 
6AY 

Mr Sam LewisGrant Conditionally

04/09/2024 24/00265/FUL Mrs Samantha Brooks Two-storey side extension, single storey front 
extension, single storey rear extension, 
external alterations inc. excavation, re-
levelling, retaining walls and associated works

14 Sarum Close Plymouth PL3 5SH Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

04/09/2024 24/00683/LBC Plymouth City Council Internal and external alterations to the 
terrace and internal works to the first floor of 
Building A

Tinside Pool Hoe Road Plymouth 
PL1 3DE 

Miss Amy ThompsonGrant Conditionally

10 September 2024 Page 9 of 11

P
age 61



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

04/09/2024 24/00723/FUL University Hospitals 
Plymouth NHS Trust

Loose gas bottle store with relocated bin 
storage area

Derriford Hospital Derriford Road 
Plymouth PL6 8DH 

Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

04/09/2024 24/00891/FUL Mrs Deborah Bailey Front garden hardstanding and new foot path 11 Normandy Way Plymouth PL5 
1SW 

Cody BeavanGrant Conditionally

05/09/2024 24/00853/CDM Shelley Oliver Condition Discharge: Condition 4 (Materials 
Maintenance Schedule) of application 
23/00921/FUL

Fitzroy Building University Of 
Plymouth Drake Circus Plymouth 
PL4 8AA 

Mr Sam LewisAgreed Condition 
Details

05/09/2024 24/00812/FUL Mr C Spriggs Demolition of existing garage, replacement 
side garage, front hardstanding and erection 
of rear boundary wall and fence

46 Plymbridge Road Plymouth PL7 
4QE 

Cody BeavanGrant Conditionally

05/09/2024 24/00847/FUL Mr Mark Slade Change of use of the ground floor from 
commercial (Class E) to Medical and Health 
Services (Class E(e)) and associated works

45 Notte Street Plymouth  Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

06/09/2024 24/00867/FUL Mrs Tina Pearce Single storey rear extension, garage 
alterations including addition of pitched roof 
and raised terrace

79 Stanborough Road Plymouth 
PL9 8TN 

Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

06/09/2024 24/00949/ADV Mrs Natalie Azodo 2no Illuminated Flex Face Signs (4250mm x 
2600mm x 135mm), 3 totem plaques and 
internal vinyl window covereings.

4 Bravo Way Plymouth PL6 5GA Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

06/09/2024 24/00950/ADV Marks And Spencer 
Group PLC

Store signage; 3(no.) individual 3D letter signs 
above entrance, on the side and rear 
elevations (Signs A, B and C) and 5(no.) vinyl 
applied trolley bay shelter signs.

1 Bravo Way Plymouth PL6 5GA Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

10 September 2024 Page 10 of 11

P
age 62



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

06/09/2024 24/00956/FUL Mr Justin Morfey First floor side extension 33 Howard Road Plymouth PL9 7EP Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

09/09/2024 19/00433/CDM Drake Circus Leisure Ltd Condition Discharge: Conditions 6e 
(boundary treatments), 19 (Charles Cross 
works), 23 (landscape maintenance), and 31 
(contaminated land remediation) from 
application 17/01409/S73M

Bretonside Bus Station  Bretonside 
Plymouth PL4 0BG

Mr Alistair WagstaffAgreed Condition 
Details

09/09/2024 24/00506/CDM ADC Kimberley 
(Derriford) Limited & 
Plymouth City Council

Condition Discharge: Conditions 17, 19, 39, 
41, 43, 47 & 51 of application 22/00129/FUL

Land At Former Seaton Army 
Barracks Parade Ground  William 
Prance Road  Derriford  Plymouth 
PL6 5ZD

Mr Alistair WagstaffAgreed Condition 
Details

09/09/2024 24/00724/FUL Hannah Sloggett Change of use of ground floor and basement 
from Nightclub (Sui Generis) to mixed use 
comprising Class E (Commercial, Business and 
Service) and Sui Generis (Aeroponics Farm 
and Mushroom Farm) uses; along with 
external alterations to provide new roof 
lights, replacement of external windows and 
doors (including those currently boarded up) 
and new air vent.

103 - 109 Union Street Plymouth 
PL1 3NB 

Helen BlacklockGrant Conditionally

09/09/2024 24/00898/FUL Mr L Cosway Change of use from HMO (Class C4) to large 
HMO (Sui Generis), external alterations to 
rear elevation to form light well and windows.

124 Alexandra Road Mutley 
Plymouth PL4 7EQ 

Mr Macauley PotterGrant Conditionally

10 September 2024 Page 11 of 11

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Planning Appeal Decisions between 19/08/2024 and 09/09/2024

Date of Decision 29/08/2024

Ward Honicknowle

Application Number 23/01761/FUL

Decision Appeal Allowed

Address of Site 24 Carew Gardens Plymouth PL5 3PB 

Proposal Undeveloped land to be used and included as residential curtilage and the 
erection of an outbuilding and rear boundary fence. 
(Retrospective)(Resubmission of application 23/01198/FUL)

Appeal Process Written Representations

Officers Name Luke Valentine

Synopsis of Appeals The appeal has been allowed. The inspector concluded that there was little to demonstrate that green undeveloped land was protected or held 
high amenity value under DEV28. Furthermore, they considered that the development retained a generous vista of green space both within and 
near the site. Consequently, the inspector did not consider there to be a conflict with DEV20 or DEV23.   Furthermore, the inspector did not find 
there to be records of the green space accommodating vulnerable species. In addition, they considered to the proposed mitigation measures, 
the cherry laurel, wilding corner and onsite planting, to be sufficiently proportional to the scale of the development. Consequently, the 
inspector did not consider there to be conflict with DEV26.   The inspector agreed with the LPA that there was no conflict with DEV1.  

10 September 2024 Page 1 of 3

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 8



Planning Appeal Decisions between 19/08/2024 and 09/09/2024

Date of Decision 30/08/2024

Ward Budshead

Application Number 23/00835/S73

Decision Appeal Dismissed

Address of Site 97 Lake View Drive Plymouth PL5 4LW 

Proposal Variation of Conditions 1 and 4 following enforcement appeal 
APP/N1160/C/22/3309917

Appeal Process Written Representations

Officers Name Mr Macauley Potter

Synopsis of Appeals Planning permission was refused to vary condition 1 (approved plans) and condition 4 (appointments and client numbers) on the grounds of 
being harmful to character and amenity. Specifically, it would have resulted in an increase in vehicular movements, general activity and 
disturbance with the frequent arrivals and departures of clients/visitors beyond what would ordinarily be associated with a single dwelling 
house. The permitting of such changes would set an unwanted and unsustainable precedent. The inspector agreed that the cumulative effect 
and extent of the proposed changes would be likely to result in harm to the living conditions of nearby residents and the character of the area 
and as such would have conflicted with policies DEV1 and DEV20 of the Joint Local Plan. Overall, the inspector concluded that the proposed 
development would fail to accord with the development plan as a whole and that there were no considerations individually or cumulatively 
that outweighed this. The appeal was therefore dismissed.

10 September 2024 Page 2 of 3

P
age 66



Planning Appeal Decisions between 19/08/2024 and 09/09/2024

Date of Decision 02/09/2024

Ward Compton

Application Number 23/01258/FUL

Decision Appeal Allowed with Conditions

Address of Site 7 Sarum Close Plymouth PL3 5SH 

Proposal Change of use of part of garage to beauty treatment room and new side door

Appeal Process Written Representations

Officers Name Mr Sam Lewis

Synopsis of Appeals Planning permission was granted for the change of use of part of the property's garage into a beauty treatment room. A condition was added 
limiting the number of appointments per week to 36 - with a 30 minute gap between each appointment. This was applied to preserve the area's 
residential character and amenity. Following an appeal made by the applicant relating to this condition (Condition 4), the Inspector considered 
that the condition was too restrictive. A separate condition limited the opening hours of the business and, due to the length of some of the 
appointments, the Inspector considered that the appointment numbers would be self-regulating due to the controlled opening hours. 
Condition 4 was therefore reaplaced with one stating that the business must operate on an appointment-only and a one-in-one-out basis - with 
no weekly appointment limit.  No applicaƟons were made for costs by either side and no costs were awarded by the Inspector.

10 September 2024 Page 3 of 3

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	6.1 23/00886/FUL - Land To The West Of Bampton Road, Leigham, PL6 8QB
	Addendum-Land to the west of Bampton Road

	6.2 24/00646/FUL - 40 North Hill, PL4 8ET
	7 Planning Application Decisions Issued
	8 Appeal Decisions

